
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

Date & Time - Thursday, 14 December 2017 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Governance and Audit:

Councillors: G R Aley (Chairman), D Ashby, J R Astill (Vice-Chairman), C J T H Brewis, 
T A Carter, P C Foyster and M D Seymour

Revised quorum 3.

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn off mobile telephones 

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:  6 December 2017



AGENDA
PLEASE NOTE TIMINGS
ARE APPROXIMATE

TIME
6.30pm 1. Apologies for absence. 

6.31pm 2. Declaration of Interests - (Where a Councillor has a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must 
declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room 
without participating in any discussion or making a 
statement on the item, except where a Councillor is 
permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation). 

6.32pm 3. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 12 September 2017 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 1 - 
6)

6.35pm 4. Quarterly Risk Report Q2 2017/18 - To inform the 
Committee of the current status of the Council’s strategic 
risks (report of the Executive Director Strategy and 
Governance enclosed).

(Pages 7 - 
18)

6.45pm 5. SHDC Annual Audit Letter 2016/17 - (report of KPMG 
enclosed)

(Pages 19 
- 26)

6.55pm 6. External Audit Progress Report and Technical Update - 
(report of KPMG enclosed).

(Pages 27 
- 52)

7.05pm 7. Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity - To examine 
the progress made between 1 September and 30 
November 2017 in relation to the completion of the 
Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2017/18 (report of the 
Head of Internal Audit enclosed).

(Pages 53 
- 80)

7.15pm 8. Follow Up Report on Internal Audit Recommendations - 
To provide members with the position on the progress 
made by management in implementing agreed Internal 
Audit recommendations as at 31 October 2017 (report of 
the Head of Internal Audit enclosed).

(Pages 81 
- 96)

7.25pm 9. Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and 
Whistleblowing Policy - To approve the Counter Fraud, 
Corruption and Bribery Policy and the Whistleblowing 
Policy, which have been updated in line with best 
practice and relevant legislation, and to ensure that the 
policies reflect the practice at Breckland District Council 
(report of the Head of Internal Audit enclosed). 

(Pages 97 
- 134)

7.35pm 10. Mid Term Treasury Report 2017/18 - To provide an 
update on the Treasury Management position of the 
Council as at 30 September 2017 (report of the 

(Pages 
135 - 152)



Executive Director Commercialisation (Section 151 
Officer) enclosed).

7.45pm 11. Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme - 
To set out the Work Programme of the Governance and 
Audit Committee (report of the Executive Manager 
Governance enclosed).

(Pages 
153 - 156)

7.50pm 12. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent.  

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by 
reason of special circumstances, which 
shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 12 -

Minutes of a meeting of the GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE held in 
Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 12 September 
2017 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

G R Aley (Chairman)
J R Astill (Vice-Chairman)

T A Carter P C Foyster

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C J T H Brewis, 
A Harrison and M D Seymour  

In Attendance:  J Cornett (Director, KPMG), E Hodds (Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager, Eastern Internal Audit Services), the Executive Director Commercialisation, 
the Head of Finance, the Business Intelligence Officer and the Democratic Services 
Officer. 

Action By
12. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none.

13. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Governance and Audit Committee meeting 
held on 22 June 2017 were signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record.

14. PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY 

(With the Chairman’s permission agenda items 6 and 7 were 
taken first)

Consideration was given to the report of the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager, which examined progress made against the 
Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17.

The Governance and Audit Committee received updates on 
progress made against the annual internal audit plan.  The report 
formed part of the overall reporting requirements to assist the 
Council in discharging its responsibilities in relation to the internal 
audit activity.

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards required the Chief 
Audit Executive (Internal Audit Consortium Manager) to report to 
the Governance and Audit Committee the performance of internal 
audit relative to its agreed plan, including any significant risk 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.



- 13 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 12 September 
2017

exposures and control issues.  The frequency of reporting was to 
each meeting.  To comply with requirements, the report identified:

 Any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan;
 Progress made in delivering the agreed audits for the year;
 Any significant outcomes arising from those audits; and
 Performance Indicator outcomes to date

It was noted that significant changes to the approved internal 
audit plan had been made in relation to Communications and 
Elections and Electoral Registration. With regard to 
Communications, a Peer Review had recently assessed the 
service and there was now a mechanism in place for monitoring 
progress against agreed actions therefore a formal audit was no 
longer necessary.  The area of Elections had been taken out of 
the review as there had been no election activity recently that had 
not been already been subject to scrutiny by either the Cabinet 
Office or the County Council.

AGREED:

That the report be noted.

15. GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE SELF ASSESSMENT 

The Committee noted that the Chartered Institute for Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) document on “audit 
committees – practical guidance for local authorities and police” 
set out the guidance on the function and operation of audit 
committees. It represented CIPFA’s view of best practice and 
incorporated the position statement previously issued. The 
guidance stated “the purpose of an audit committee is to provide 
those charged with governance independent assurance on the 
adequacy of the risk management framework, the internal control 
environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and annual 
governance processes”. 

The Section 151 Officer had overarching responsibility for 
discharging the requirement for sound financial management, and 
to be truly effective required an audit committee to provide 
support and challenge. 

Good audit committees were characterised by; balanced, 
objective, independent knowledgeable and properly trained 
Members, a membership that was supportive of good governance 
principles, a strong independently minded chair, an unbiased 
attitude and the ability to challenge when required.

Page 2



- 14 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 12 September 
2017

It was therefore good practice for audit committees to complete a 
regular self-assessment exercise against a checklist, to be 
satisfied that the Committee is performing effectively.

In addition, the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards also called 
for the audit committee to assess their remit and effectiveness, in 
relation to Purpose, Authority and Responsibility, to facilitate the 
work of this Committee. 

The Governance and Audit Committee had regularly carried out 
the self-assessment exercise in the past and had taken action 
where necessary to ensure full compliance with best practice. 

The updated guidance provided two tools against which the 
Committee could assess itself, the first (self-assessment of good 
practice) supported an assessment against recommended best 
practice to inform and support the Committee. The second 
assessment tool (evaluating the effectiveness if the audit 
committee) helped Committee Members to consider where it was 
most effective and where there may be scope to do more. To be 
effective the Committee should be able to identify evidence of its 
impact or influence lined to specific improvements. 

At an informal meeting on the 22nd June 2017 three Committee 
Members reviewed and completed the two assessment tools. 

The assessment had highlighted the Members position and 
interpretation of adherence to best practice. The next step was for 
the Committee to evaluate their effectiveness against the 
assessment key (scoring of 1 to 5 on the second checklist at 
Appendix 1) and to agree the resulting action points.

In discussing the report, Councillors felt that with regard to 
ensuring value for money, Councillors would like to see more 
comparison information.  

The Committee agreed the checklist, decided that it was not 
necessary to conclude on a formal rating and supported the 
action plan.

AGREED:

1) That Committee notes the checklist attached at Appendix 1 to 
the report, and approves the resulting action plan.

16. QUARTERLY RISK REPORT, QUARTER 1 2017-18 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – 

Page 3



- 15 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 12 September 
2017

Strategy and Governance which informed the Committee on the 
current status of the Council’s strategic risks.

The Committee noted that there were currently no risks that were 
rated in the high risk category. 

There were currently eleven risks which fell into the medium 
category. Of these risks, most remained at the same score as last 
quarter. One risk, relating to the uncertainty over future 
government funding settlement, increased from a risk score of 9 
to 12. This was due to the continued uncertainty following the 
finance bill and the business rates not having been fully defined. 
One further risk had decreased its score compared to the 
previous quarter. This was the risk relating to the delivery of the 
Local Plan which, following its submission to the planning 
inspectorate in June, had reduced from 12 to 4 with the impact 
still high but likelihood now much reduced.

The risk regarding the failure to deliver core services with CPBS 
had changed, whilst remaining at a score of 12, the impact had 
increased and the likelihood decreased. This was because there 
had now been recruitment within finance, which decreased the 
likelihood of failure, but with ICT vacancies and a settling in period 
for new staff, the impact of failure in these two services remained 
high. The update from CPBS was that ICT were actively recruiting 
to the vacant posts to ensure ongoing service proficiency. 

There were 3 risks currently reported in the low category these 
were scored as they were in the previous quarter.

In discussing the report members raised the issue of Great Britain 
leaving the European Union and asked whether it was considered 
as a risk. It was noted that the Council had a interest from an 
economic point of view, and that this was being managed through 
a variety of mechanisms, but not from the point of view of a 
specific risk.  The situation was being closely monitored.

Councillors also discussed the risk associated with IT security and 
noted that CPBS were understaffed in IT currently.  A number of 
posts had been filled with new staff starting in the next few weeks, 
however there still remained concerns on technical posts that 
were being problematic in filling.  It was agreed that Councillors 
would be notified of how many vacant posts there were.  It was 
noted that CPBS were required to show the government, on 
behalf of the Council, compliance with its PSN security 
requirements. It was noted that this was in hand and due for 
submission shortly.

PA 

Page 4



- 16 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 12 September 
2017

AGREED:

That the contents of the report be noted.

17. ISA 260 REPORT 16/17 

Consideration was given to KPMG’s report to those charged with 
governance (ISA260) for 2016/17.  It summarised the key findings 
arising from their audit of South Holland District Council’s 2016/17 
financial statements and their work to support their 2016/17 
conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

The report made one recommendation which concerned the IT 
review of user rights access.  It was recommended that the 
authority should establish a formalised process to carry out 
regular reviews of access rights systems.

Councillors noted that the outstanding areas of work identified in 
the summary were now complete.  KPMG thanked the Council’s 
finance team for its support in delivering the report.

AGREED:

That the ISA 260 report for 2016/17 be noted;

18. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016/17 

The Committee noted that the audit of the 2016/17 Financial 
Statements was now substantially complete, and the Statements 
were attached as Appendix A to the report.

The draft Annual Governance Statement and the unaudited 
Financial Statements 2016/17 had been presented to the 
Committee on 22 June 2017. Since that time, KPMG had been 
working to establish the correctness of the accounts, checking 
them against the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and the Council’s own accounting 
policies.

A small number of presentational adjustments were required to 
ensure compliance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, including the 
movement of the exceptional item from income to expenditure in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. No other 
amendments were required to be made to the primary Financial 
Statements.

Page 5



- 17 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 12 September 
2017

At the same meeting the Committee had considered and 
commented on the draft Annual Governance Statement. No 
amendments had been made to the draft Statement. 

The Annual Governance Statement was required to be signed by 
the Leader of the Council and Chief Executive. The Committee 
approved the final statement to allow it to be published with the 
Financial Statements.

AGREED:

That the Committee:

1) Approves the Financial Statements 2016/17;

2) Approves the Annual Governance Statement 2016/17; and

3) Approves the Letter of Representation to KPMG. 

19. GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager - 
Governance which presented the Work Programme of the 
Governance and Audit Committee as set out in Appendix A within 
the report.

AGREED:

That the report and content of the Work Programme be noted.

20. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items.

(The meeting ended at 7.30 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 6



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy and Governance

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 14 December 2017

Author: Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager

Subject: Quarterly Risk Report, Q2 2017/18

Purpose: To inform the Committee on the current status of the Councils’ strategic 
risks

Recommendation: 

1)  That the contents of the report are noted.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1. The last risk report to the Governance and Audit Committee was in September 2017 for Q1.  
Since then, there have been a small number of changes to the strategic risk register which 
are highlighted in this report.  

1.2 This report is generated using the Covalent system and includes updates on strategic risks 
for quarter 2, 2017/18.

1.3 Strategic risks are visible on the Corporate Dashboard which is available to the Executive 
Management Team (EMT) and risks are reviewed by EMT quarterly.  In addition, risks are 
reviewed monthly at the officer-led Performance, Risk & Audit Board chaired by the 
Executive Director of Strategy and Governance.

1.4. Strategic risks have been reviewed and updated with the responsible members of EMT.  
These cover the over-arching risks that may affect the strategic direction of the council, 
rather than risks linked to business continuity or those that affect discreet service areas. 
The strategic risk register includes 14 strategic risks (see Appendix A). 

1.5 Strategic risks typically affect the whole of the organisation and not just one or more parts 
of it. Strategic risks can potentially involve very high stakes and often affect the ability of the 
organisation to survive, e.g. impact on the ability of the Council to achieve its corporate plan 
objectives and purpose. 

1.6 The Council’s risk scoring mechanism is based on a 5x5 matrix, and is comparable with 
best practice in other, similar organisations.  The risk matrix provides a comprehensive 
assessment and understanding of risk likelihood and impact. The matrix results in a 
numerical score which combines the impact of the risk occurring with the likelihood of it 
happening.

1.7 Risks fall into High, Medium or Low categories depending on their rating 
High
Medium
Low

Page 7

Agenda Item 4.



1.8 Risks are tracked below in a heat map to represent the number of strategic risks currently 
reported at each score 

1.9 There are currently no risks that are rated in the high risk category. 

1.10 There are currently twelve risks which fall into the medium category. Of these risks, most 
remain at the same score as last quarter. As of Quarter 2 the risk relating to County Council 
budget risk has increased, moving from a low category risk to a medium category risk. This 
is due to the fact that the county council budget will not be announced until February 2018, 
therefore until that point we cannot be fully clear on the budget implications and as such we 
must take a more prudent view on this risk until clarity is provided.

It is also worth noting in this report the risk regarding the failure to deliver core services with 
CPBS has reduced following on from a brief period in the high risk category due to a high 
number of vacancies within the service, It is pleasing to note that this risk has since 
reduced and has fallen into the medium risk category following on from some successful 
recruitment within CPBS. CPBS have successfully recruited a Head of service for finance in 
a permanent position and have also filled all the vacant roles within the IT service with the 
exception of one which is still in the interview stages, these factors have seen the reduction 
in this risk score. 

1.11 There are 2 risks currently reported in the low category which are relating to the failure to 
effectively implement corporate business continuity plans and the failure to deliver 
corporate priorities, these are scored as they were in the previous quarter. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the contents of the report are noted.

2.2 Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Not applicable.

Page 8



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 That the Committee is made aware of the Council’s strategic risks and understands that 
they are being managed and mitigated effectively.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate priorities.

5.2 Financial

  5.2.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the Council’s budgets           
and financial management. In addition the appropriate management of risk is 
fundamental to the sound financial management of the Council’s finances.

5.3 Risk Management

5.3.1 The report provides detail on the management of Council’s strategic risks.

5.4 Staffing

5.4.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to staffing and delivery

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No wards or communities are affected

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 EMT – Executive Management Team

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Greg Pearson, Corporate Improvement and Performance 
Manager

Telephone Number: 07500-030900 
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A South Holland District Council Strategic Risk Register (Q1 

2017/18)

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



SHDC Strategic Risk Report inc Targets 
 

Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Medium
Term
Financial
Plan Not
Delivered

The Medium Term 
Financial Plan 
includes a balanced 
position which is 
dependant on 
delivery of the 
“MovingForward” 
Transformation plan

12

There are a 
number of controls
 in place to track 
delivery including 
transformation 
board, 
Performance, Risk
 & Audit Board & 
Finance Board. 
PI's are tracking 
variance from plan

12 4 3

Initial moving forward 
target savings have 
been identified and 
delivered, however, 
future savings now 
depend on ongoing 
delivery of savings 
from organisational re-
design and 
particularly, generating
 significant ongoing 
savings from our 
major asset reviews 
which are all making 
progress.

22 Nov
2017

3 2

Uncertainty
over future
government
 funding
settlement

Government funding
 reductions due to a 
weakening of the 
economy may be 
experienced during 
the period of the 
MTFP 

12

4yr MTFP sets out
 programme to be 
free of reliance on 
RSG by 2019. 
Setting investment
 funds, commercial
 property and 
growth to ensure 
continued income

12 4 3

Due to the finance bill 
not proceeding the 
risk still remains 
higher than previous 
scores and will 
continue to be 
monitored

15 Nov
2017

2 2

P
age 11



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Failure to
maximise
trading
opportunitie
s

Failure to maximise 
trading opportunities
 could result in lack 
of commercial 
exploitation of 
assets or income 
from trading arms 

9

Governance is in 
place for MTFP 
through
transformation 
board, finance 
board and
Performance Risk 
and Audit Board 
which monitor the 
work towards
maximising trading 
opportunities

12 4 3

The Council's MTFP, 
approved by Council 
on 22nd February, 
includes assumed 
savings during the 4 
years to 20/21. In 
order to deliver these 
savings the Council 
will need to review the
 use of its major 
commercial assets to 
maximise income and 
reduce operating 
costs.

22 Nov
2017

2 2

Staff
recruitment
and
retention at
all levels
within the
organisatio
n

Staff recruitment and
 retention issues 
could undermine the
 effectiveness of the 
organisations though
 loss of experience 
and knowledge 

15

The mitigation for 
key senior posts 
that are vacant or 
serving their notice
 period will be to 
start recruitment 
and find suitable 
interim cover. 

12 3 4

Staff Turnover is still 
high as a result of the 
Place Review but 
expected to reduce 
from November 
onwards.  During this 
quarter we have been 
unable to recruit to the
 Strategic Finance and
 Compliance Manager 
(Deputy S151) and 
Senior Planning 
Officer.

09 Oct
2017

2 2

P
age 12



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

CPBS
Failure to
deliver core
services

CPBS Failure to 
deliver core services
 - 
HR/IT/Finance/Reve
nues & Benefits 

12

Number of
Governance
processes in place
including
monitoring of
performance in
performance, risk
and audit baord.
CPBS also has its
own board with
governance.

12 4 3

This risk has reduced 
following on from a 
brief period in the high
 risk category due to a
 high number of 
vacancies within the 
service, It is pleasing 
to note that this risk 
has since reduced and
 has fallen into the 
medium risk category 
following on from 
some successful 
recruitment within 
CPBS. CPBS have 
successfully recruited 
a Head of service for 
finance in a 
permanent position 
and have also filled all
 the vacant roles 
within the IT service 
with the exception of 
one which is still in the
 interview stages, 
these factors have 
seen the reduction in 
this risk score. 

01 Dec
2017

2 2

General
Data
Protection
Regulation
Implementa
tion

With the 
implementation of 
the General Data 
Protection 
Regulation, which 
replaces the Data 
Protection Action of 
1998, there is a risk 
that the council will 
not manage its data 
appropriately and in 
line with the new 
regulations.

16

Monthly meetings 
of the statutory 
information group 
have highlighted 
areas which need 
to be addressed 
and training is 
being delivered in 
September for 
managers and 
proposed service 
Data Protection 
leads.

12 4 3

The training has been 
delivered; member 
training on GDPR will 
be arranged by early 
Spring; gap analysis 
report has been 
received; Portfolio 
holders and scrutiny 
have been briefed; 
report has been to 
EMT; Data Protection 
Policy and GDPR 
action plan on the 
forward plan for 
Cabinet/Council in 
May 2018.

17 Nov
2017

2 2

P
age 13



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Critical
breach of
ICT security

Attacks are 
happening with 
increasing frequency
 at present. Ransom
 and theft specialists
 are targeting 
banking details and 
personal information,
 as with all other 
government systems
 and private 
companies 

25

There is a 
comprehensive 
suite of protection 
measures in place
 including email 
filtering, web 
filtering, antivirus 
and windows 
updates which 
help to protect 
from viruses

10 5 2

The ICT team have 
completed a large 
number of business as
 usual activities to aid 
in the prevention of 
critical breaches such 
as patching of servers
 and applications, 
patching of Wi-Fi 
infrastructure in line 
with latest threats and 
recommendations, 
patching of the 
Firewalls and Proxy 
servers, user guidance
 and training on 
security best practice, 
compliance to PSN 
standards and 
certificate obtained 
and continued work 
with DPO to reduce 
exposure from GDPR 
requirements. 
 
  
 
In addition, the team 
have completed a 
project to replace 
outdated shared 
manager equipment 
and almost at 
completion of the 
large infrastructure 
refresh.  Both of these
 projects will minimise 
the exposure of the 
Council’s environment 
to security breach.

15 Nov
2017

4 2

P
age 14



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Impact of
business
rate appeals

Business rate 
retention policy 
changes leave the 
council exposed to 
risks on collection 
and baseline 
income. 

20

Financial provision
 has been made to
 cover the risk of 
current appeals, 
collection rates 
and growth

9 3 3

There has been a 
decrease in the 
provision for appeals 
in Q2 (2017/18) of 
£0.2m. This is partly 
due to a reduction of 
£1.3m for the one 
remaining power 
station appeal in Q2. 
The rateable value of 
this property dropped 
in March 2017 by 8%, 
but a further appeal 
against the RV 
remains outstanding, 
though it is not 
expected that a 
provision at the 
previous level of 14% 
is required. We await 
a decision from the 
Valuation Office on 
this appeal.

17 Nov
2017

2 2

Impact of
County
Council
Budget
Reductions

Impact of County 
Council Budget 
Reductions. This will
 potentially impact 
on resident 
wellbeing. 

9

Ensure that Place 
directorate are 
involved early in 
conversations to 
represent the 
council and its 
residents

9 3 3

Risk has been raised 
since last quarter as 
we are aware that the 
county council budget 
will not be set until 
Feburary 2018 and 
this will mean we have
 a lack of clarity until 
that time.

28 Nov
2017

2 2

P
age 15



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Failure to
deliver
financial &
non-
financial
outcomes
of the
approved
Welland
Homes
business
plan

Failure to deliver 
financial & non-
financial outcomes 
of the approved 
business plan has 
implication in areas 
which include Legal,
 reputational and 
Financial. Risk also 
refers to capacity 
and expertise in the 
organsation to 
deliver the housing 
development 
requirement for both
 the HRA and 
Welland Homes.

8

Mitigations as 
follows; 
• Revised 
governance 
including 
strengthened 
terms of reference. 
• Improved 
communication on 
Council policies to 
the WH Board. 
• Increased 
operational 
capability and 
capacity within 
Council to support 
future programmes
 and WH Board of 
Directors. 
• Revision of 
original business 
plan was
presented to 
Cabinet and 
approved by Full 
Council in July 16 
• Introduction of a 
Housing 
Development 
programme 
manager 
• Explore external 
partnerships for 
specialist delivery 
expertise 
• Review requests 
for quotations for 
Parkside Crescent
 / Severn road 
projects and 
recommend a way
 forward for these 
projects  

9 3 3

Layer 1 - Green lane 
completed and fully 
let. Long Sutton 
approved by cabinet 
and council 
 
Layer 2 - Out to 
tender for further 
revenue to facilitate 
decision making with 
regards to future 
development sites. 
 
There are other layer 
1 opportunities being 
sought. 

01 Dec
2017

2 2

P
age 16



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Publication
of gender
pay gap
under
transparenc
y legislation

The evolution of 
Transparency 
legislation will mean 
a requirement to 
publish the gap 
between male and 
female earnings 
within pay bandings.
 This could lead to 
increased scrutiny 
from the unions 
which may trigger a 
Unison audit. The 
collateral effect of 
the risk coming to 
fruition would be 
around reputational 
damage and legal 
ramifications of 
potentially 
backdated claims 
from workers. 

12

The mitigation for 
this is to 
proactively 
establish i) if there
 is a gender based
 pay gap within job
 roles and ii) to 
identify funding to 
cover any liability 
in this area should
 liability be 
identified. The 
Council advocates
 equitable and fair 
treatment of its 
employees and 
would not wish to 
perpetuate any 
such discrepancy. 

6 2 3

The Gender Pay Gap 
report is still on Target
 to be presented to 
EMT in December 
followed by Full 
Council in January.  
The report was run 
earlier in the year with
 no significant 
concerns highlighted.

09 Oct
2017

2 2

Failure to
deliver the
council's
Corporate
Priorities

Would lead to 
missed targets and 
failure to deliver 
objectives and may 
result in the Council 
suffering reputational
 damage and a 
failure to deliver 
priorities to 
residents. 

4

Corporate Delivery
Plan sets out how
to acheive
corporate plan and
this is under
pinned by
individual service
plans and these
are monitored at
Perfromance, Risk
& Audit Board
monthly

4 2 2

This risk remains 
unchanged as the 
Corporate 
improvement and 
performance team 
continue to monitor 
and work with staff 
towards achieving the 
corporate priorities.

27 Nov
2017

2 2

P
age 17



Title Description
Original
Score Controls/

Mitigation
Current Risk
Score Impact Likeli-

hood
Trend
(last
qtr)

Latest Note
Latest
Update
Date

Target
Impact

Target
Likelihood

Failure to
deliver
Local Plan
and its
Delivery
Plan

Failure to deliver 
Local Plan and its 
Delivery Plan - 
reputational and 
financial risk due to 
possible Secretary 
of State intervention.
 there is also a new 
risk emerging due to
 New Homes Bonus.
 

8
Dedicated senior
officer and EMT
support to deliver
the local plan

4 4 1

 The Local Plan is 
currently under 
examination with the 
first hearing sessions 
having been held in 
October and early 
November. Further 
hearing days are 
proposed at the end of
 November and early 
December. The 
examination is 
currently progressing 
to timetable, and 
whilst consultation is 
expected on changes 
discussed during the 
hearings, the plan 
continues to progress 
and it is hoped the 
Inspectors report will 
be published in spring 
2018 to enable 
adoption of the plan 
shortly thereafter.

27 Nov
2017

4 3

Failure to
effectively
implement
corporate
business
continuity
plan

Failure could lead to
 an impact on 
delivery of services, 
loss of IT systems, 
ineffective 
communication or a 
failure to provide 
suitable premises 

4

Working jointly
with County to
have business
continuity post.
Each team has a
plan reviewed
annually

3 3 1

The risk remains the 
same while the 
emergency planning 
role is being 
embedded into the 
organisation

24 Oct
2017

3 1

 

P
age 18



Page 19

Agenda Item 5.



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Technical update
Draft

Incorporating the External Audit Progress Report

South Holland District Council

December 2017

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 6.



2

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Contents
December 2017

Page

External audit progress report 3

KPMG resources 5

Technical developments 9

Appendices

1. 2017/18 audit deliverables 22

This report provides the audit committee with an overview on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors.

The report also highlights the main technical issues which are currently having an impact in local government. 

If you require any additional information regarding the issues included within this report, please contact a member of the audit team.

We have flagged the articles that we believe will have an impact at the Authority and given our perspective on the issue:

High impact Medium impact Low impact For information

The contacts at KPMG 
in connection with this 
report are:

John Cornett
Director

KPMG LLP (UK)
Tel: +44 (116) 256 6064

john.cornett@kpmg.co.uk

Helen Brookes
Manager

KPMG LLP (UK)
Tel: +44 (115) 945 4476

helen.brookes@kpmg.co.uk

P
age 28



External audit 
progress reportP

age 29



4

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

External audit progress report
December 2017

This document provides the Governance and Audit Committee with a high level overview on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your 
external auditors.

At the end of each stage of the audit we issue certain deliverables, including reports and opinions. A summary of progress against these deliverable 
is provided in Appendix 1 of this report. 

Area of responsibility Commentary

Financial statements We have now completed the 2016/17 audit of the financial statements. This included:
• Issuing an unqualified accounts audit opinion and certificate on 29 September 2017;
• Issuing the 2016/17 Annual Audit Letter; and
• Submitting a fee variation request to Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) for £2,524 to cover the cost of the additional audit 

work required in 2016/17 on the implementation of a new payroll system. PSAA has not yet approved the request.

We have started the planning process for the audit of the 2017/18 financial statements and we will present the Audit Plan to the next 
meeting of this Committee.

Value for Money We have also completed the work to support the 2016/17 value for money conclusion and we issued an unqualified conclusion on 29 
September 2017. 

We are in the process of updating our risk assessment ahead of the completion of the work to support the 2017/18 value for money
conclusion and we will report any identified risks in the Audit Plan at the next meeting of this Committee.

Certification of claims 
and returns

We have completed the work on the following grants and other returns:
• Housing Benefits Grant Claim 2016/17 – the claim was certified on 28 November 2017. The certified claim and Qualification Letter

was sent to the Department for Work and Pensions ahead of their 30 November 2017 deadline.
• Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts Return 2016/17 – our assurance report on the return was submitted to the Department for 

Communities and Local Government on 28 November 2017, ahead of the 31 December 2017 deadline. 

We will present the Annual Grants report which summarises this work to the next meeting of this Committee.

Other work We have prepared our update on recent relevant technical matters which is attached to this report.

P
age 30



KPMG Resources

P
age 31



6

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Ready for General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)?
KPMG resources

The biggest change to rules governing data protection for more than 20 years comes into effect in May 2018, carrying fines of up to 4% of revenue or 
€20m for organisations that do not comply, whichever is higher. The European Privacy regulators have made it very clear they intend to use their 
new powers.

Managing data requires a careful strategy to ensure that it’s reliable and that customers understand what you are doing with their personal 
information and where required that you have gained their consent. This will ensure the insights it delivers are actionable, and reduces the risk that 
organisations won’t be perceived as intrusive as customers see more tailored services.

Based on KPMG’s extensive experience in working with organisations across sectors and geographies on privacy matters, we recommend the 
following five step approach. This could be used specifically for the purposes of the GDPR or as a broader privacy strategy approach.

1) Define your privacy strategy – Defining your privacy strategy is the first step. Without it, you can’t have a consistent and coherent approach. The 
strategy must be defined and articulated, and then presented to senior leadership for their endorsement. You need to get it on the decision 
maker’s agenda fast. Our recent experience has shown that most organisations will need to put investment into a privacy improvement 
programme.

2) Where are you now? – In order to establish the size of the task ahead and what specific areas need addressing, you need to understand your 
organisation’s current maturity. This is not a tick box exercise but a pragmatic, focused process to really understand the GDPR privacy risk 
exposures that exist across your organisation.

3) Take a pragmatic approach – You need to build a realistic plan which will help you manage your risk to an appropriate level, in line with your 
overall business strategy. This does not necessarily mean taking a leading position in every single respect – but a clear view of what success 
looks like for you.

4) Coordinate and deliver – Focusing on areas of greatest risk, you need to ensure that controls are embedded as part of day to day business 
operations. This will require coordination across the organisation. Make sure you have the right blend of input from legal, IT, HR and other 
functions and enough resources. Don’t underestimate the level of effort – personal information is everywhere in your organisation.

5) Embed into business as usual – Complying with the GDPR is about defining, implementing and then sustaining compliant processes. Post 2018 
you will be required to demonstrate, on an ongoing basis, how you collect, use, retain, disclose and destroy personal information in line with the 
GDPR requirements. This impacts everything you do relating to personal information and is therefore a significant transformational activity for 
your organisation going forwards.

More details, including in relation to the five step approach set out above, can be found at: www.kpmg.com/uk/privacyservices

P
age 32

http://www.kpmg.com/uk/privacyservices


7

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Faster accounts close for Local Government
KPMG resources

In February 2015 a new closedown timetable for Councils, Fire Authorities, Police Bodies and National Park Authorities was set out reducing both the 
time to prepare the accounts and complete the audit. As in prior years the Regulations retain the requirement for the draft accounts to be approved 
by the Responsible Finance Officer and sets out the period for the exercise of public rights.

The Benefits
The Government has been keen to improve transparency of local government financial reporting. Historically there has been a disconnect between 
budget monitoring carried out during the year and the annual accounts closedown process producing a set of statements that bear little 
resemblance to the reported budget position.

The Risks
Reducing the time taken to publish the financial statements presents a number of risks to authorities which will need to be addressed in order to 
facilitate successful faster closure. The Regulations set out the duties of the Responsible Financial Officer to have proper arrangements in place. 
Potential risks include:
— failure to deliver the draft and final statements within the deadlines;
— incomplete and inaccurate financial statements (e.g. due to risk of error from increased estimation);
— reputational damage; and
— diversion of resources from other key finance activities – leading to issues in other areas.
As well as compliance with the Regulations, failure would lead to potential qualification of the VFM opinion from external auditors and critical 
comments from national stakeholders.

Lessons from bodies already closing early
Experience elsewhere suggests there needs to be an early recognition of the additional work needed to develop the faster plan. Many Authorities 
have developed a project group of key senior finance officers and central and service finance office to develop the approach.

Resourcing is always recognised as an issue, but in the development of a plan, authorities need to ensure that accounts production is appropriately 
shared amongst staff resources, for instance, there is experience at smaller authorities that this is allocated to one person.

Fundamental to the development plan is ensuring that all contributors, including those outside of finance, are aware of the changes and they are 
built into the project.

KPMG have produced a thought leadership document that covers the above in more detail. This is available from your audit team.

P
age 33



8

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

The route to digital business leadership 
KPMG resources

Whether disruptive technologies are viewed as a threat, an opportunity, or both, the need for digitally enabled business transformation is a survival 
issue for some and a strategic imperative for just about everyone else. But organizations are meeting with varying levels of success.

In this year’s Harvey Nash / KPMG CIO Survey, we recognized that there was a group of respondents who are ‘very effective’ at using digital 
technologies to advance their business strategy. We have labelled these organizations ‘Digital Leaders’.

Based on extensive analysis of the survey data, KPMG member firms’ professional experience and conversations with clients, we have identified 
four key practices that set these ‘digital leaders’ apart from other organizations. The report describes each in more detail:
- Build on a stable and secure infrastructure
- Invest aggressively in agile and disruptive technologies
- Adept at aligning business and IT strategy
- Focused on innovation and growth

But how do you become a digital leader? KPMG’s report sets out six steps that organizations can take to help close the gap, and move them down 
the road towards digital business leadership.

The full report can be accessed here: https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/xx/pdf/2017/09/the-route-to-digital-business-leadership.pdf

P
age 34

https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/xx/pdf/2017/09/the-route-to-digital-business-leadership.pdf


Technical 
developmentsP

age 35



10

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Local government finance settlement 2017-18
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information) KPMG Perspective

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has published the final local government 
finance settlement for 2017/18. The settlement reflects comments received by DCLG in response to its 
consultation, with key features including:
— confirmation of spending allocations for those authorities which have taken up the government’s four-year 

funding deal first set out in 2015;
— details of council tax referendum thresholds, including the additional social care precept, and a 2% principle 

for all shire district councils, and for police and crime commissioners in the lowest quartile; and
— the legislative framework for business rates reform underpinning the move towards 100% business rates 

retention.

For further information please see www.gov.uk/government/collections/final-local-government-finance-
settlement-england-2017-to-2018

Committee members may want to 
be updated as to how this will 
impact on the medium term 
financial plans.

P
age 36

http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/final-local-government-finance-settlement-england-2017-to-2018


11

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Minimum Revenue Provision Consultation
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information) KPMG Perspective

The Prudential System is comprised of 4 statutory codes. The Department for Communities and Local Government is 
responsible for preparing the guidance on Local Authority Investments and the guidance on Minimum Revenue 
Provision.
Over the past years the regulatory and economic environment has changed significantly and led the sector to consider 
more innovative types of investment activity. The government has also monitored changes in the practices used for 
calculating Minimum Revenue Provision.
As a result the government proposes to update the guidance as part of the more general update of the statutory codes 
comprising the prudential framework

Department for Communities and Local Government are consulting on the proposed framework

This consultation seeks views on the proposals for updating the prudential framework and will last from 10 November 
2017 and will conclude on 22 December 2017.

The consultation and proposed framework can be found below.

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance

Committee members may want to 
ask officers how they propose to 
respond to the consultation and 
the potential impact to the 
medium term financial plans.

P
age 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance


12

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Action) KPMG Perspective

The revised Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) came into force on 1 April 2017 and are included on 
the IASAB website (a CIPFA microsite – link below). These were agreed by the Relevant Internal Audit Standard 
Setters (RIASS) who are CIPFA in respect of local government bodies across the UK.

The standards apply to local authorities and other local government bodies, including police and fire bodies, as 
well as government departments (including executive agencies and non-departmental public bodies) and 
Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS trusts.

The standards are based on the mandatory elements of the International Professional Practices Framework 
(IPPF) as follows:
— Definition of internal auditing.
— Core principles for the professional practice of internal auditing.
— Code of ethics.
— International standards for the professional practice of internal auditing (which comprise statements, 

interpretations and a glossary).
— Plus the mission of internal auditing.

In addition, the PSIAS include a small number of the UK public sector requirements, which indicate how 
internal auditors must implement the IPPF in the UK public sector including:
— conforming to the Code of Ethics. If individual internal auditors have membership of another professional 

body then he or she must also comply with the relevant requirements of that organisation;
— having regard to the Committee on Standards of Public Life’s Seven Principles of Public Life; and
— the requirement for the chief audit executive to deliver an annual internal audit opinion and report that can 

be used by the organisation to inform its governance statement. The annual internal audit opinion must 
conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk 
management and control. The annual report must also include a statement on conformance with the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards and the results of the quality assurance and improvement programme.

The 2017 PSIAB standards can be found at www.iasab.org/standards

Committee members may wish to 
request assurance that the Internal 
Audit standards will be achieved.

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)

P
age 38

http://www.iasab.org/standards


13

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Local authority accounts: A guide to your rights
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information)

The NAO publishes a guide aimed at helping local people understand their rights to ask questions, inspect and object to local authority accounts. 
The updated publication, Local authority accounts: A guide to your rights, is available on the NAO website (at the link below).

The main changes to the guide are as follows:

— A change of title from Council Accounts: A guide to your rights to Local authority accounts: A guide to your rights, to reflect the fact that public 
rights apply to a wider selection of authorities than ‘councils’.

— The guide contains a new Annex, which addresses issues specific to smaller authorities, such as exemption from limited assurance review, 
which comes into force from 2017-18 onwards.

— The guide clarifies that, while helpful to do so, it is not necessary for electors to identify an item of account in order for the objection to be 
eligible, particularly where they are raising issues in respect of governance, and/or are asking the auditor to issue a report in the public interest.
Audit committee members are encouraged to read the guide, and to direct members of the public to in correspondence where this may be 
helpful.

The guide can be found at www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/council-accounts-a-guide-to-your-rights/

P
age 39

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/council-accounts-a-guide-to-your-rights/


14

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Publication of 2017/18 work programme and scale of fees
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information)

Following consultation, Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) has published the work programme and scale fees for the audit of the 
2017/18 accounts of principal local government and police bodies.

There are no changes to the overall work programme for 2017/18. Scale fees will therefore also remain at the same level as the scale fees 
applicable for 2016/17. This retains the significant fee reductions of 55 per cent secured since 2012/13, and continues to protect audited bodies 
from cost of living increases with an overall real terms saving equivalent to 61 per cent.

The audit of the 2017/18 accounts is the final year for the current audit contracts, which were extended for one year under transitional 
arrangements made by the Department for Communities and Local Government. For audits of the accounts from 2018/19, the provisions of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in relation to local appointment of auditors will apply. The Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government has specified PSAA as the appointing person for principal local government and police bodies, and, in accordance with the Act, 
PSAA will therefore appoint auditors and set scale audit fees for bodies that have opted into its national scheme.

During the course of 2017/18 PSAA plans to make a distribution of surplus funds to principal local government and police bodies. The distribution 
is made possible by the transfer of an element of the Audit Commission's retained earnings prior to its closure in March 2015 and by PSAA 
making further efficiencies since its establishment.

The work that auditors will carry out on the 2017/18 accounts will be completed based on the requirements set out in the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office.
The 2017/18 work programme documents and scale fees for individual audited bodies are now available on the PSAA website at
www.psaa.co.uk/audit-and-certification-fees/201718-work-programme-and-scales-of-fees/

P
age 40

http://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-and-certification-fees/201718-work-programme-and-scales-of-fees/


15

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Local Audit (public access to Documents) Act 2017
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information)

The Local Audit (Public Access to Documents) Act 2017 (the Act) received royal assent on 27 April 2017. The Act extends rights of inspection 
under section 26 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to include journalists and citizen journalists.

The Act defines a journalist as ‘any person who produces for publication journalistic material (whether paid to do so or otherwise).’
Committee members will wish to note that while the Act extends rights of inspection, there are no changes in respect of auditors’ additional 
powers and duties; the rights under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to ask the auditor questions about the accounts, and to make an 
objection at audit, continue to be restricted to local government electors only.

P
age 41



16

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

CIPFA consultations
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information)

Members will wish to be aware that CIPFA/LASAAC are consulting on the 2018/19 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom.

The consultation will close on 6 October 2017 with responses direct to CIPFA. The changes being consulted on are:
— IFRS 9 Financial Instruments;
— IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers;
— narrow scope amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards;
— legislative and policy changes.

A copy of the consultation can be found at www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-
the-united-kingdom-2018-to-2019-invitation-to-comment The deadline to respond is 6 October 2017.

In addition, CIPFA is consulting on changes to both the prudential and treasury management codes. These codes have not been updated for 
some time and CIPFA recognises that they needed to be revised to take into consideration new patterns of local authority borrowing and 
investment activity.

The prudential code consultation can be found at www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/consultation-on-proposed-changes-to-the-
prudential-code and the treasury management code consultation at www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/consultation-on-treasury-
management-code

The closing date for responses for these consultations was the 30 September.

P
age 42

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-2018-to-2019-invitation-to-comment
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/consultation-on-proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-code
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/consultations/consultation-on-treasury-management-code


17

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

NAO Report – Progress in setting up combined authorities
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information)

In July, the NAO published its report on Progress in setting up combined authorities which concludes that for combined authorities to deliver real 
progress they will need to demonstrate that they can drive economic growth and contribute public sector reform.

These authorities have inherently complex structures and are not uniform. They vary in the extent of the devolution deals they have struck with 
government. The combined authority with the greatest degree of devolution, Greater Manchester, has now absorbed control over the office of the 
police and crime commissioner and fire and rescue services. Others are currently primarily focused on transport issues, as well as housing and 
regeneration.

The report highlights a number of risks including:
— local councillors will have limited capacity for the overview and scrutiny of combined authorities. Furthermore, in May 2017, six mayors were 

elected to combined authorities in England, with candidates having campaigned on manifestos which frequently made policy commitments 
beyond the current remits of these organisations. This raises the question of whether mayors can be credible local advocates if they only deal 
with the limited issues under the remit;

— a number of authorities have been unable to bring local authorities together to establish combined authorities, while areas with a long history 
of working together have often found it most straightforward to establish combined authorities;

— the capacity of most combined authorities is currently limited and the lack of geographical coherence between most combined authorities and 
other providers of public services could make it more problematic to devolve more public services in the future; and

— if the United Kingdom’s departure from the European Union (EU) results in reductions in regional funding, the economic regeneration role of 
combined authorities would become more pressing. Combined authorities are generally in areas which receive the most EU funding. The 
North West, for example, is scheduled to receive in excess of 1 billion euros in European Regional Development Funds, European Social Fund, 
and Youth Employment allocations between 2014 and 2020.

The report is available on the NAO website at www.nao.org.uk/report/progress-in-setting-up-combined-authorities/

P
age 43

http://www.nao.org.uk/report/progress-in-setting-up-combined-authorities/


18

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

PSAA's Value for Money tool
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information)

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) further updated their Value for Money Profiles tool (VFM Profiles) on 4 August 2017.

The VFM profiles have been updated with the latest available data for the following data sources:
— Alcohol related admissions to hospital (2015/16)
— Attainment by age 19 (2015/16)
— Claimant count (2017)
— Climate change statistics (2015)
— Collection rates for council tax and non-domestic rates (2016/17)
— Conception statistics (2015)
— Council tax demands and precepts statistics (2017/18)
— Delayed transfers of care (Q1 2017)
— Fire and rescue service statistics (2016)
— First time entrants into the youth justice system (2015/16)
— Fly tipping incidents and actions (2015/16)
— Fuel poverty (2015)
— Homelessness statistics (2016/17)
— Mid-year population estimates (2016)
— National road maintenance condition survey (2015/16)
— NHS health check data (2016/17)
— Pupil absence in schools (2015/16)
— School capacity (2016)
— Schools, pupils and their characteristics (2016/17)

The tool can be accessed through the PSAA website at http://vfm.psaa.co.uk/nativeviewer.aspx?Report=/profiles/VFM_Landing

P
age 44

http://vfm.psaa.co.uk/nativeviewer.aspx?Report=/profiles/VFM_Landing


19

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

PSAA report on the results of auditors’ work at Local Government bodies 
2016-17

Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information)

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) intends to publish a report on the results of auditors’ work at local government bodies for 2016-17.

In December 2016, PSAA published its second report on the results of auditors’ work at local government bodies covering the 2015-16 financial 
year.

PSAA is intending to publish a report on the results of auditors’ work at principal local government bodies and small bodies for the 2016-17 audit 
year, covering the following:

- timing of issue of accounts opinions (early and late);

- non-standard accounts opinions;

- emphasis of matter and other matter paragraphs;

- non-standard conclusions on arrangements to secure VFM; and

- details of public interest reports and statutory recommendations issued since the previous report.

The report will include the names of individual principal bodies under each of the above categories, as appropriate, with a summary of all the 
principal bodies named in the report in an appendix at the end. PSAA is aiming to publish the report around mid-December 2017.

Information reported by auditors in the PSAA audit issues survey will be the primary source of information for the report.

P
age 45



20

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

NAO homelessness report
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information)

The NAO has published a report on Homelessness which may be of interest to members in considering bodies’ arrangements to secure value for 
money.

The report finds that homelessness has increased across all measures since 2010, with many local authorities now seeing it as a risk to their 
financial sustainability. It also finds that government has not evaluated the impact of its welfare reforms on homelessness, or the impact of the 
mitigations that it has put in place.

The report details the increase in statutory homelessness in England in recent years, and identifies the factors driving this. It notes that although 
the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) is responsible for tackling homelessness, during its increase, DCLG took a light 
touch approach to working with local authorities. This contrasts with the more interventionist approach that it has taken during previous periods 
of high homelessness. Although DCLG requires each local authority to have a homelessness strategy, it does not monitor their content or their 
progress.

DCLG has supported new legislation that will increase the responsibilities of local authorities in preventing homelessness. The Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 aims to give local authorities more responsibility for preventing homelessness. DCLG expects that these responsibilities will 
lead to an increase in prevention cases and a fall in the number of households that qualify for temporary accommodation.

The report finds that the ability of local authorities to respond to increased homelessness is constrained by the limited options they have to house 
homeless families. As set out in the NAO’s assessment of the housing market in Housing in England: overview, there has been a significant 
reduction in social housing over the past few decades. While spending by local authorities on homelessness services such as temporary 
accommodation has steadily increased since 2010, spending on overall housing services has fallen by 21% in real terms over the same period. 
The proportion of homeless households in temporary accommodation outside their home borough increased from 13% in March 2011 to 28% in 
March 2017. Almost 90% of these households are from London boroughs.

The Homelessness report is available from the NAO website.

P
age 46



21

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Smith Institute report on the increase of local housing companies
Technical developments

Level of impact: (For Information)

The Smith Institute has published a report on the rise of local housing companies (LHCs) which may be of interest to members in considering 
bodies’ arrangements to secure value for money.

The report finds there are already over 150 LHCs, set up by local authorities to provide commercial and social housing opportunities. The Smith 
Institute estimates that the number of LHC’s will grow to around 200 over the next three years. 

The report finds LHCs are largely outside of the housing revenue and housing association regulatory framework and are often partially financed
by local authorities borrowing from the public works loan board and on-lending to the LHC while making a commercial return. With the changing 
regulatory environment around the current updating of the prudential code and the statutory investment regulations there may be a threat to the 
operation model of the LHC’s.

The report can be accessed through the Smith Institute. 

P
age 47



Appendix

P
age 48



23

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

2017/18 audit deliverables
Appendix 1

Deliverable Purpose Timing Status

Planning

Fee letter Communicate indicative fee for the audit year April 2017 Complete

External audit plan Outline our audit strategy and planned approach

Identify areas of audit focus and planned procedures

January 2018 TBC

Interim

Interim report (if 
required)

Details and resolution of control and process issues.

Identify improvements required prior to the issue of the draft financial statements and the year-
end audit.

Initial VFM assessment on the Council's arrangements for securing value for money in the use of 
its resources.

March 2018 TBC

Substantive procedures

Report to those 
charged with 
governance (ISA 260 
report)

Details the resolution of key audit issues.

Communication of adjusted and unadjusted audit differences.

Performance improvement recommendations identified during our audit.

Commentary on the Council’s value for money arrangements.

September 2018 TBC

P
age 49



24

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a 
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

2017/18 audit deliverables (cont.)
Appendix 1

Deliverable Purpose Timing Status

Completion

Auditor’s report Providing an opinion on your accounts (including the Annual Governance Statement).

Concluding on the arrangements in place for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
your use of resources (the VFM conclusion).

September 2018 TBC

WGA Concluding on the Whole of Government Accounts consolidation pack in accordance with 
guidance issued by the National Audit Office.

September 2018 TBC

Annual audit letter Summarise the outcomes and the key issues arising from our audit work for the year. November 2018 TBC

Certification of claims and returns

Certification of 
claims and returns 
report

Summarise the outcomes of certification work on your claims and returns for Government 
departments.

December 2018 TBC

P
age 50



Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

The KPMG name and logo are registered trademarks or trademarks of KPMG International. 

© 2017 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

P
age 51

https://www.linkedin.com/company/kpmg-advisory
https://www.linkedin.com/company/kpmg-advisory
https://plus.google.com/111087034030305010189
https://plus.google.com/111087034030305010189
https://twitter.com/kpmguk
https://twitter.com/kpmguk
https://www.youtube.com/user/KPMGUK
https://www.youtube.com/user/KPMGUK


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report of: Head of Internal Audit for South Holland DC 

To: Governance and Audit Committee 14 December 2017

Author: Emma Hodds, Head of Internal Audit

Subject: Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity

Purpose: This report examines the progress made between 1 September and 30 
November 2017 in relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit Plan 
for 2017/18.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members note the progress to date with the internal audit plan of work for 
2017/18.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee receive updates on progress made against the 
annual internal audit plan. This report forms part of the overall reporting requirements to 
assist the Council in discharging its responsibilities in relation to the internal audit activity. 

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Chief Audit Executive to report to the 
Governance and Audit Committee the performance of internal audit relative to its agreed 
plan, including any significant risk exposures and control issues. The frequency of reporting 
at South Holland is to each meeting. 

To comply with the above the report identifies: - 
o Any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan;
o Progress made in delivering the agreed audits for the year; 
o Any significant outcomes arising from those audits; and
o Performance measure outcomes to date.

2.0 CURRENT PROGRESS

2.1 The current position and issues in relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit 
Plan 2017/18 are shown within the report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The Governance and Audit Committee are requested to receive and note the Progress 
Report on Internal Audit Activity.  In doing so, the Committee is ensuring that the Internal 
Audit Service remains compliant with professional auditing standards, and are fulfilling their 
terms of reference.

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Corporate Priorities

4.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas reviewed and ensuring that they are 
working towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities.

Page 53

Agenda Item 7.



4.2 Financial 

4.2.1 The Internal Audit Plan is being delivered within the approved budget for 2017/18.

4.3 Risk Management 

44.3.1 Internal Audit planning starts with the Council’s key risks, which then directs the audit plan 
for the financial year. Internal Audit reports then identify risks and control weaknesses 
within the Council which are highlighted in this report, with appropriate management action 
being agreed to mitigate these risks within agreed timeframes.

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emma Hodds Head of Internal Audit for South Holland DC
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email: ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting Emma Hodds

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report:  Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity

Page 54



Page 1 of 25

Eastern Internal Audit Services

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity

Period Covered: 1 September to 30 November 2017

Responsible Officer: Emma Hodds – Head of Internal Audit for South Holland DC

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION ..............................................................................................................2

2. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE APPROVED INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN ....................2

3. PROGRESS MADE IN DELIVERING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK ..............................3

4. THE OUTCOMES ARISING FROM OUR WORK ............................................................3

5. PERFORMANCE MEASURES.........................................................................................4

APPENDIX 1 – PROGRESS IN COMPLETING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK...................6

APPENDIX 2 – AUDIT REPORT EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES..............................................8

APPENDIX 3 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES..................................................................25

Page 55



Page 2 of 25

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report is issued to assist the Authority in discharging its responsibilities in relation to the 
internal audit activity. 

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards also require the Chief Audit Executive to report to 
the Audit Committee on the performance of internal audit relative to its plan, including any 
significant risk exposures and control issues. The frequency of reporting and the specific 
content are for the Authority to determine.

1.3 To comply with the above this report includes: - 

 Any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan;
 Progress made in delivering the agreed audits for the year;
 Any significant outcomes arising from those audits; and
 Performance Indicator outcomes to date.

2. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE APPROVED INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

2.1 At the meeting on 27 March 2017, the Annual Internal Audit Plan for the year was approved, 
identifying the specific audits to be delivered. Changes were reported to the Committee in 
September (Communications and Elections & Electoral Registration), since then, there have 
been the following changes to the plan:

Audit description Nature of the change

Democratic Services This audit has been rescheduled to 2018/19, the 
audit was due to cover: progress in achieving the 
Charter Member Status and Members 
allowances and expenses. 

The team are currently reviewing how they will 
address the first element of the scope due to 
staffing changes, therefore it is beneficial to look 
at this once decisions are made. It therefore also 
made sense to postpone the other element of 
the review.

Housing Benefit Subsidy Due to the complexity of the cases the testing is 
taking longer than anticipated. The cases have 
increased in complexity over recent years., the 
main reason for this appears to be the 
introduction of ATLAS automation (DWP data) 
and RTI’s (HMRC data). Data is being fed into 
the system on a ‘live’ basis which means that 
claims are constantly being reassessed further 
back or in the future. This inevitably creates 
more splits, more offset and netting which in turn 
takes much longer to assess. 

An increase of five days has been agreed. 

Page 56



Page 3 of 25

3. PROGRESS MADE IN DELIVERING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK

3.1 The current position in completing audits to date within the financial year is shown in 
Appendix 1 and progress to date is in line with expectations.

However there has been some rescheduling of audits, resulting in more work to be 
completed in the latter parts of the financial year, it is therefore important that work is 
progressed as now planned.  

3.2 In summary:

77.5 days of programmed work has been completed by Eastern Internal Audit Services, 
equating to 53% of the (revised) Audit Plan for 2017/18.

37 days of programmed work has been completed by East Lindsey District Council, equating 
to 53 % of the (revised) Audit Plan for 2017/18.

4. THE OUTCOMES ARISING FROM OUR WORK

4.1 On completion of each individual audit an assurance level is awarded using the following 
definitions:

Substantial Assurance: Based upon the issues identified there is a robust series of suitably 
designed internal controls in place upon which the organisation relies to manage the risks to 
the continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process, and which at the 
time of our review were being consistently applied.

Reasonable Assurance: Based upon the issues identified there is a series of internal 
controls in place, however these could be strengthened to facilitate the organisation’s 
management of risks to the continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the 
process. Improvements are required to enhance the controls to mitigate these risks.

Limited Assurance: Based upon the issues identified the controls in place are insufficient to 
ensure that the organisation can rely upon them to manage the risks to the continuous and 
effective achievement of the objectives of the process. Significant improvements are 
required to improve the adequacy and effectiveness of the controls to mitigate these risks.

No Assurance: Based upon the issues identified there is a fundamental breakdown or 
absence of core internal controls such that the organisation cannot rely upon them to 
manage risk to the continuous and effective achievement of the objectives of the process. 
Immediate action is required to improve the controls required to mitigate these risks.

4.2 Recommendations made on completion of audit work are prioritised using the following 
definitions:

Urgent (priority one): Fundamental control issue on which action to implement should be 
taken within 1 month.

Important (priority two): Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 
3 months.

Needs attention (priority three): Control issue on which action to implement should be 
taken within 6 months.

4.3 In addition, on completion of audit work “Operational Effectiveness Matters” are proposed, 
these set out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for 

Page 57



Page 4 of 25

service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance 
the delivery of value for money services. These are for management to consider and are not 
part of the follow up process.

4.4 During the period covered by the report Internal Audit Services have issued five final reports:

Audit Assurance P1 P2 P3

Planning and Planning Enforcement Reasonable 0 4 1

Corporate Performance & Corporate 
Plan

Substantial 0 0 2

Welland Homes Reasonable 0 2 1

Electoral Registration Reasonable 0 0 3

IT Project Delivery Reasonable 0 0 1

The Executive Summary of these reports are attached at Appendix 2, full copies of these 
reports can be requested by Members.

4.5 As can be seen in the table above as a result of these audits 14 recommendations have 
been raised, two of which have already been implemented by management and the 
remaining 12 are not yet due for completion.

In addition, two Operational Effectiveness Matters have been proposed to management for 
consideration.

4.6 It is also pleasing to note that all audits concluded in a positive opinion being awarded, 
indicating a strong and stable control environment to date, with no issues that would need to 
be considered at year end and included in the Annual Governance Statement. Or raise 
issues that need considering and addressing.

5. PERFORMANCE MEASURES

5.1 The new Internal Audit Services contract includes a suite of key performance measures 
against which the new contractor will be reviewed on a quarterly basis. There are a total of 
11 indicators, over 4 areas, the performance measures can be seen at Appendix 3.

5.2 There are individual requirements for performance in relation to each measure; however 
performance will be assessed on an overall basis as follows:

 9-11 KPIs have met target = Green Status.
 5-8 KPIs have met target = Amber Status.
 4 or below have met target = Red Status

Where performance is amber or red a Performance Improvement Plan will be developed by 
the contractor and agreed with the Internal Audit Consortium Manager to ensure that 
appropriate action is taken.

5.3 Work for quarters one and two have been completed, however we are awaiting management 
response to enable two reports to be finalised. 

A report on the performance measures provided to the Head of Internal Audit, performance 
is currently at green status with targets having been satisfactorily met for these quarters.

Page 58



Page 5 of 25

5.4 In addition to these quarterly reports from the Contractors Audit Director, ongoing weekly 
updates are provided to ensure that delivery of the audit plan for the current financial year is 
on track. A review of the most recent update indicates that work is on track, however we 
need to ensure that the remaining audits are progressed as currently planned. 

 

Page 59



Page 6 of 25

APPENDIX 1 – PROGRESS IN COMPLETING THE AGREED AUDIT WORK 

Audit Area Audit Ref No. of days Revised 
Days

Days 
Delivered

Status Assurance 
Level

Date to 
Committee

Urgent Important Needs 
Attention

Op

Quarter 1
Grants for Growth Phase 1 SH1801 2 2 2 Final Outcomes issued 14 

June 2017
Communications SH1802 4 0 0
Planning and Planning Enforcement SH1818 16 16 15 Final Report issued 29 

September 2017
Reasonable 0 4 1 2 14 December 

2017
Section 106 SH1807 Draft Report issued 27 July 

2017
TOTAL 22 18 17
Quarter 2
Corporate Performance & Corporate Plan SH1803 7 7 7 Final Report issued 13 

September 2017
Substantial 0 0 2 0 14 December 

2017
Welland Homes SH1804 10 10 10 Final Report issued 14 

November 2017
Reasonable 0 2 1 0 14 December 

2017
Asset Management SH1809 10 10 9 Draft Report issued 11 

October 2017
Elections & Electoral Registration SH1806 8 4 3 Final Report issued 20 

September 2017
Reasonable 0 0 3 0 14 December 

2017
TOTAL 35 31 29
Quarter 3
Environmental Protections SH1805 6 6 5 Draft Report imminent
Housing Rents SH1808 12 12 11 Draft Report issued 15 

November 2017
Democratic Services SH1810 5 0 0
TOTAL 23 18 16
Quarter 4
Grants for Growth Phase 2 SH1801 6 6 0
Housing needs, allocation, homelessness, 
housing register and PSH

SH1811 10 20 0 Audit due to start in January

Planned maintenance, major contracts 
and property services
Responsive repairs, voids and recharges

SH1812 10 0 0

Corporate Governance SH1813 4 4 0
Risk Management SH1814 3 3 0
Transformation Programme SH1815 6 6 0
Procurement & Contract Management SH1816 8 8 0
TOTAL 47 47 0

Recommendations

P
age 60



Page 7 of 25

Audit Area Audit Ref No. of days Revised 
Days

Days 
Delivered

Status Assurance 
Level

Date to 
Committee

Urgent Important Needs 
Attention

Op

IT Audits
IT Project Delivery - Phase 1 SH1817 7.5 7.5 7.5 Final Report issued 18 

October 2017
Reasonable 0 0 1 0 14 December 

2017
IT Project Delivery - Phase 2 SH1817 5 5 0
IT Project Delivery - Phase 3 SH1817 7.5 7.5 0
TOTAL 20 20 7.5
Follow Up
Follow Up NA 12 12 8
TOTAL 12 12 8

TOTAL 159 146 77.5 0 6 8 2

Percentage of plan completed 53%

Audit delivered by East Lindsey District Council
Key Controls & Assurance tbc 20 20 5 Quarter three and four
Accounts Receivable tbc 10 10 2 Terms of Reference issued 

to key clients
Audit to start in October, with 
final report by end of 
December

Budget Management & Control tbc 10 10 0 Quarter four
Housing Benefit Subsidy tbc 25 30 30 Complete

65 70 37

53%

OVERALL TOTAL 224 216 114.5

53%

Recommendations

P
age 61



Page 8 of 25

APPENDIX 2 – AUDIT REPORT EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES

Assurance Review of Planning and Planning Enforcement

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Planning Applications 0 1 0 2

Planning Enforcement 0 3 1 0

Total 0 4 1 2

SCOPE

The audit reviewed the Council’s performance on dealing with planning applications and enforcement activities and the processes in place for managing and 
monitoring these key schemes.

P
age 62



Page 9 of 25

RATIONALE

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Reasonable Assurance' in managing the risks associated with the Planning Applications, 
and Planning Enforcement. The assurance opinions have been derived as a result of four 'important' and one 'needs attention' recommendations being raised 
upon the conclusion of our work.

 The audit has also raised two 'operational effectiveness matters', which sets out matters identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for 
service enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance the delivery of value for money services.

POSITIVE FINDINGS

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

 A planning application processing manual is in place that details the steps taken by the Administrative team in receipt, validation, registration of planning 
applications, consultation, amendments to planning applications, determination and decisions, appeals and miscellaneous such as pre-application.

 Pre-application enquires made by the public are responded to in a timely manner.

 Planning application fees are received prior to the application being processed by the Council.

 The fees charged for planning applications are in accordance with the planning fees schedule.

 Planning application fees are coded directly to the ledger upon receipt.

 Neighbours, Council departments and relevant authorities are consulted as part of the planning officer’s consideration of a planning application.

 The progress of each planning application case can be monitored on Ocella by the case officer and managers.

 Applications are approved in accordance with delegated authority. 

 Formal conditions and enforcement notices are correctly approved in accordance with levels of delegated authority.

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED

P
age 63



Page 10 of 25

The audit has highlighted the following areas whereby controls would benefit from being strengthened, and as a result of these findings four 'important' 
recommendations have been made.

Planning Applications

 Decisions be made in accordance Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) requirements for extensions of time with evidence retained on 
file confirming compliance. this is to reduce the risk of dissatisfied customers and financial loss to the Council where the applicant is refunded the planning fee.

Planning Enforcement

 Planning Enforcement policy and procedure is to be put in place to reduce the risk of incorrect / inconsistent practices developing, leading to legal challenge 
and reputational damage to the Council. 

 Another officer be allocated to cover enforcement activity in the absence of the Senior Compliance Officer so as to reduce the risk of delays in enforcement 
action potentially resulting in non-compliances with enforcement policy. 

 Case Officers handling planning enforcement cases are to produce monthly management reports detailing action taken in respect of planning enforcement 
complaints completed and outstanding planning enforcements cases. This will reduce the risk of having incorrect action been taken or that cases remain open 
on the system indefinitely and poor performance remains undetected.

The audit has also highlighted the following areas where one 'needs attention' recommendation has been made.

Planning Enforcement

 All planning enforcement complaints to be acknowledged within three working days of receipt, with evidence retained. This will reduce the risk of having 
dissatisfied complainants leading to a reputational risk for the Council.

Operational Effectiveness Matters

The operational effectiveness matters, for management to consider relate to the following:

 The Council to consider charging for its pre-application service thereby helping to cover costs and to be consistent with other local Councils who already 
charge for this service.

 The Council to set a timeframe for applicants to provide the supporting missing information for invalid applications.

Other issues

P
age 64



Page 11 of 25

Councils are liable to refund the application fees to the applicant if a case is not determined after 26 weeks without an agreed extension. A report generated from 
Ocella for June 2017 revealed that there were 16 planning applications over 26 weeks where no extension of time has been agreed, with the total amount of 
associated fees being £6,947. (See recommendation 1).

The Place Manager subsequently stated that overall, performance against target is very high and that this has only been achieved with extensions of time.  In terms 
of audit concerns over having to return fees, the Council is currently liable to return £6,947 (£2,695 of which is an application submitted by the Council itself).  There 
is currently £242,577 protected by extensions of time (97% of all fees for applications currently over 26 week and potentially liable for a refund).  This is a largely 
positive message, and one that demonstrates that the system that is working.  It is not an area of concern, rather the reverse. 

The Place Manager also stated that since the introduction of legislation requiring the repayment of fees in certain circumstances the Council has not be obliged to 
make any repayments to date. 

Previous audit recommendations 

This area has not been subject to previous internal audit scrutiny.

P
age 65



Page 12 of 25

Assurance Review of Corporate Performance and Corporate Plan

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Corporate delivery plan 0 0 1 0

Performance Indicators 0 0 1 0

Total 0 0 2 0

SCOPE

The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Corporate Performance for both Breckland and South Holland, to help 
confirm that these are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. 

P
age 66



Page 13 of 25

RATIONALE

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Substantial Assurance' in managing the risks associated with the Corporate Performance 
and Corporate Plan Arrangements. The assurance opinion has been derived as a result of two 'needs attention' recommendations being raised upon the 
conclusion of our work.

 This assurance opinion indicates that the overall level of control has remained the same (Substantial) since the previous audit of Performance Management 
(BRK/16/05) at Breckland, indicating a strong and stable control environment in this key corporate area. This direction of travel relates only to Breckland since 
there is no previous coverage for South Holland with which to compare, however it is noted that systems and processes are the same at both sites and have 
been for some time.    

POSITIVE FINDINGS

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

 The Corporate Delivery plans for both Breckland and South Holland Councils include four Corporate Priorities which are broken down into Critical Activities. 
Key Actions have been identified for each Critical Activity and Team Actions allocated to each Key Action. These have been uploaded to and are monitored 
through Covalent.

 The Team Actions in the Corporate Deliver plans have been allocated to the service areas responsible for implementing the Team Actions, with these being 
assigned to the responsible staff members.

 Performance Indicators (PIs) and supporting data are recorded and collated on Covalent, with these being assigned to the responsible staff members.

 The Corporate Improvement and Performance (CIP) team has recently commenced meeting with the services on a monthly to six weekly basis, to review the 
team’s performance on their allocated PIs and encourage the team to use Covalent regularly thus ensuring up to date information is provided and reported 
upon. 

 The Performance, Risk and Audit Board plays a pivotal role in reviewing all performance, and ensuring that managers take responsibility to deal with 
performance issues. 

P
age 67



Page 14 of 25

 The CIP Team monitors and reports on delivery of the key priorities identified within the Council's Corporate Plan 2015-19 on a quarterly basis. Reporting on 
delivery of the corporate priorities to both Cabinet Committees and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Breckland and the Performance Management 
Panel for South Holland.

 A new performance reporting format was introduced by the CIP Team with the first new format used for reporting quarter four for 2016/17. New features 
include; a trend chart for each indicator covering the last four quarters, the denominator and numeration for each performance indicator, the report compares 
performance in the fourth quarter of the previous year compared with performance in the fourth quarter being reported, the data reported for each indicator 
and the value in percentage, is included and compared with the targets for each of the indicators. 

 The Council’s PIs are Red, Amber and Green (RAG) rated in the quarterly performance report and in Covalent. Explanations were found to be provided and 
where applicable action to be taken was recorded. 

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED

The audit has highlighted the following areas where two 'needs attention' recommendations have been made.

Corporate Delivery plans

 Responsible officers to promptly (monthly) update team actions in Covalent. This helps mitigate the risk of key objectives not being met and management 
not being kept informed with progress, particularly where there is under achievement. (Both Councils).

Performance Indicators

 To link all PIs to the Council's Corporate Delivery plan, thereby reducing the risk that the Corporate Delivery plan may not be measurable or the plan may 
not progress efficiently. (Both Councils).

Operational Effectiveness Matters

There are no operational effectiveness matters for management to consider.

Other issues

The report on Environmental Services (BRK/18/08) included a recommendation (No 1) to review and agree the correct set of corporate actions and PIs and to 
ensure these are monitored and reported. This was due to three more up to date corporate actions, as per the Team Plan Report, which had not been updated in 
Covalent.  The review had also established that in 13 out of a total of 31 performance measures monitored, updates were overdue by at least one week. In one case 

P
age 68



Page 15 of 25

the delay was over a month (missed waste collections) and in a further two cases no updates had been provided for over a year (number of tagged bins and cost of 
household waste collection). Management accepted the recommendation with a date of implementation by 29th September 2017.

Previous audit recommendations 

A previous report for Breckland on Performance Management (BRK/16/05) was issued in April 2016 with a ‘Substantial’ assurance having raised three ‘needs 
attention’ recommendations. All three recommendations have been confirmed as implemented through internal audit’s cyclical follow up checks.

P
age 69



Page 16 of 25

Assurance Review of Welland Homes Arrangements

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Terms of Reference 0 1 0 0

Business Plan 0 0 1 0

Funding / Budget 0 0 0 0

Recharges 0 1 0 0

Total 0 2 1 0

No recommendations have been raised in relation to funding / budget.

SCOPE

The audit reviewed systems and controls in place within Welland Homes to confirm if these are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. The terms of 
reference of Welland Homes, business plan, funding / budget arrangements (including Equity and Loan) and recharges were reviewed in the process of the 
audit.

P
age 70



Page 17 of 25

RATIONALE

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Reasonable’ in managing the risks associated with the audit. The assurance opinion 
has been derived as a result of two important and one needs attention recommendation being raised upon the conclusion of our work.

POSITIVE FINDINGS

It is acknowledged that there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

 Welland Homes Ltd has a detailed business plan in place, which clearly documents the objectives of the company in three layers of detailed business cases. 
The plan has been revised to ensure compliance with the States Aid requirement and approved by the Welland Homes Board and South Holland District 
Council (SHDC).

 The revised business plan includes detailed financial and non-financial information, such as capital investment and financing information, cash flow 
statement and insurance costs, projected profit and loss, details and timing of projects, key assumptions underlying the plan and other relevant information. 

 Loan debenture and equity agreements have been drawn between the Council, who funds Welland Homes via shares and loan, and Welland Homes. The 
documents were signed by the Council's Executive Director Commercialisation and a Director of Welland Homes.

 The Welland Homes Board of Directors meet regularly to review progress made on the business plan and projects, review the risk register and make 
decisions on how to take the plan forward.

 Financial reporting arrangements are in place. The company has a separate bank account which is reconciled to the ledger on a monthly basis and the 
financial information is validated through a monthly bank/cash reconciliation carried out by Compass Point Business Services.

 Welland Homes has a risk register that includes strategic company risks and operational risks identified by the respective project undertaken. There is also a 
group risk register which includes risks from the Council's perspective.

 The Board of Directors have received training from the Council’s solicitor to support them in their roles as Directors. 

 There is a clear distinction between the strategic and governance focused roles of the company directors and the day-to-day operational activity of the 
officers serving the company. This distinction has been supported by the training that was provided by the Council’s solicitor to the Directors. This distinction 
sets out good governance and reflects good practice in this area, which it is expected will continue.

P
age 71



Page 18 of 25

 The Welland Homes Directors who are also Councillors of SHDC have completed declarations of interest. The Councillors are also required to declare their 
interest at Council meetings when Welland Homes’ matters are discussed.

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED

The audit has highlighted the following areas where one ‘important’ recommendation has been made.

Terms of Reference

 Key policies such as business continuity and disaster recovery and data protection are adopted by the company, to reduce the risk of the company being 
unable to operate independently of the Council.

Recharges

 Whilst annual recharges are prepared in order to reclaim the cost of the services rendered by SHDC to Welland Homes Limited, a formal service level 
agreement is required, to mitigate the risk of support services not being fit for purpose or disagreement over the level of service provided and cost.

The audit has also highlighted the following areas where one ‘needs attention’ recommendation has been made.

Business Plan

 More information is provided on the Council's website about Welland Homes and the relationship between the company and the Council, to improve the 
visability around the arrangements.

Operational Effectiveness Matters

There are no operational effectiveness matters for management to consider.

Previous audit recommendations

The audit review is the first audit to be carried out on Welland Homes Ltd and therefore there are no previous internal audit recommendations to follow up

P
age 72



Page 19 of 25

Assurance Review of Elections and Electoral Registration

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Register access 0 0 1 0

Electoral register 
completeness and 

accuracy

0 0 1 0

Canvassers 0 0 1 0

Election administration 0 0 1 0

Total 0 0 4 0

No recommendations have been raised in respect of postal voting. 

SCOPE

The objective of the audit was to review the systems and controls in place within Electoral Registration (both Councils) and Elections (Breckland only), as 
detailed in the action points above, to help confirm that these are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently.

P
age 73



Page 20 of 25

RATIONALE

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Reasonable' in managing the risks associated with the audit. The assurance opinion has 
been derived as a result of four 'needs attention' recommendations being raised upon the conclusion of our work.

POSITIVE FINDINGS

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

 Electoral registration is conducted in accordance with legislation and government guidance.

 An annual canvass in conducted to ensure that all residents are given the opportunity to register to vote.

 New electoral registrations are automatically verified by matching with data held by the Department for Work and Pensions , and checked for duplicate entries 
to the register.

 Elector preferences, such as opting out of the open register, are recorded on the register.

 The electoral register is publicly available and provided to all entitled bodies who request a copy.

 There is an audit trail of all changes made to the electoral register.

 Election expenditure is justified, recorded and authorised, with supporting evidence retained.

 Expenditure on parish and town council elections is recharged to the relevant council.

 Postal vote applications are processed in a timely manner and acknowledgements are sent to applicants.

 Arrangements are in place for the secure storage, opening and verification of postal votes.

 Election procedures are reviewed and updated following major elections.

P
age 74



Page 21 of 25

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED

The audit has highlighted the following areas where four 'needs attention' recommendations have been made.

Register security

 The number of user accounts with administrator access to the Xpress system be reduced, to reduce the risk of misuse of the (confidential) data contained 
within the system. (Both Councils)

Canvassers

 Canvasser worksheets to be signed and dated before payments are made, to reduce the risk of inappropriate payments being made and gaining assurance 
that work has been completed as required. (South Holland)

Election administration

 Reconciliations of election expenditure are signed and dated by the preparer and reviewer, to reduce the risk of expenditure being unaccounted for. 
(Breckland)

Electoral register completeness and accuracy

 Processes to be put in place to ensure that Customer Services pass on the requisite information to Electoral Services where it involves a change in residency 
impacting on the Electoral Register. This will negate the need for further contact with the resident for obtaining the same information and reduce the risk of the 
electoral register containing outdated information. (South Holland)

Operational Effectiveness Matters

There are no operational effectiveness matters for management to consider.

Previous audit recommendations

A previous report on Elections and Electoral Registration for Breckland (BRK/14/04) was issued in August 2013 with an Reasonable assurance having raised five 
‘Important’ and one ‘Needs attention’ recommendations, with all but one relating to electoral registration. All six recommendations have been confirmed as 
implemented. 

There has been no recent coverage of electoral registration for South Holland.

P
age 75



Page 22 of 25

Assurance Review of IT Project Delivery

Executive Summary

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT ACTION POINTS

Control Area Urgent Important Needs Attention Operational

Project Delivery 0 0 1 0

Total 0 0 1 0

No recommendations were raised in the areas of Governance, Disaster Recovery, 
Review of Outstanding Audit Recommendations or Review of progress with 
ISO27001:2013 ‘Compliance’

SCOPE

Due to the recent approval of the report to both Councils with regards to the IT infrastructure, the audit time over the course of the year will be undertaken as 
intermediary reviews as to the progress made to date and what is still required and to ensure that controls remain robust and appropriate throughout the 
change management process.

P
age 76



Page 23 of 25

RATIONALE

 The systems and processes of internal control are, overall, deemed 'Reasonable Assurance' in managing the risks associated with the audit. The 
assurance opinion has been derived as a result of one 'needs attention' recommendation being raised upon the conclusion of our work and in 
recognition of the challenges that remain within a programme of works that is at an early stage.  Further audit work is planned later in the year to help 
provide continued assurance over the controls in place to manage the programme.  The overall assurance grade for the future audit will reflect, in part, 
the progress of the programme to help deliver the strategic goals of both Councils.

POSITIVE FINDINGS

It is acknowledged there are areas where sound controls are in place and operating consistently:

Governance

 There is a formally documented ICT Governance Board Terms of Reference, which was last reviewed in March 2017.

 The ICT Governance Board has been meeting monthly since March 2017, with meetings documented and the action log updated as required.

 The Strategic Information Governance Board Terms of Reference have been documented in the agreed minutes of the Board's meeting held on 11th 
March 2017.

 The Strategic Information Governance Board meets regularly, with meetings documented and the action log updated as required.

IT Project Delivery

 The Councils have retained a trained ICT Project Manager  to manage the Councils' "Moving Forward",  "Shared Governance", "Shared Operational" 
and other, smaller programmes of work.  The ICT Project Manager has implemented best practice project management processes in a proportionate 
manner to manage the programme of works adequately and effectively.  Future audits will review the progress of the programme of works and 
comment further on the adequacy and effectiveness of these processes.

 The ICT Project Manager initiated a process whereby regular project highlight reports have been generated since her arrival.   The audit noted that the 
reports are designed in an appropriate and proportional manner commensurate with the sizes and priorities of each project.  For example, the projects 
that make up the "Moving Forward" programme - "IT Infrastructure "and "NCC Migration" - are being reported in separate highlight reports.  The other 
programmes - "Shared Governance" and "Shared Operational" - are being reported in a more summarised manner as these are smaller and lower 
priority programmes.

P
age 77



Page 24 of 25

Disaster Recovery 

 The work to enhance South Holland District Council's backup processes has been completed. 

 The audit has noted that the work to build a new replication infrastructure has been completed and tested and that the work to migrate all servers from 
the legacy infrastructure at both Councils has started.  Lower risk servers are being migrated first to help test the infrastructure further, with the other 
servers following.

Review of outstanding audit recommendations 

 A review of outstanding audit actions at both Councils has resulted in updates being added to Covalent that relate to the current status of the actions, 
with the updates resulting in the closure of a number of actions due to the recent activity as part of the key IT projects 

 At the time of the audit the updates reflected that there are now only seven audit recommendations outstanding at Breckland, all of which are due to be 
implemented by the end of December 2017 and are part of the overall project plan.

 At the time of the audit the updates reflected that there are now only four audit recommendations outstanding at South Holland, all of which are due to 
be implemented by the end of March 2018 and are part of the overall project plan. 

Review of progress with ISO ‘compliance’ 

 The audit conducted a walkthrough of every suggested action that resulted from the recent ISO27001:2013 gap analysis carried out between January 
and March 2017.  It was found that a project has been set up to implement the actions that the report set out.  The project is made up of nine stages, 
with every action having been mapped to one or more of them.  As a result, the actions are all effectively “in progress”.

ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED

The audit has highlighted the following area where one 'needs attention' recommendation has been made.

Project Delivery

 RAID logs need to be kept for all relevant projects to reduce the risk that relevant Risks, Actions, Issues and Dependencies relating to each project are 
not managed adequately and effectively.

Operational Effectiveness Matters

There are no operational effectiveness matters for management to consider.

P
age 78



Page 25 of 25

APPENDIX 3 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Area / Indicator Target
Audit Committee / Senior Management

1. Audit Committee Satisfaction – measured 
annually

2. Chief Finance Officer Satisfaction – 
measured quarterly

Adequate

Good

Internal Audit Process
3. Each quarters audits completed to draft 

report within 10 working days of the end 
of the quarter

4. Quarterly assurance reports to the 
Contract Manager within 15 working days 
of the end of each quarter

5. An audit file supporting each review and 
showing clear evidence of quality control 
review shall be completed prior to the 
issue of the draft report ( a sample of 
these will be subject to quality review by 
the Contract Manager)

6. Compliance with Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards

7. Respond to the Contract Manager within 
3 working days where unsatisfactory 
feedback has been received.

100%

100%

100%

Full

100%

Clients
8. Average feedback score received from 

key clients (auditees)
9. Percentage of recommendations 

accepted by management

Adequate

90%

Innovations and Capabilities
10. Percentage of qualified (including 

experienced) staff working on the 
contract each quarter

11. Number of training hours per member of 
staff completed per quarter 

60%

1 day

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Head of Internal Audit for South Holland DC

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 14 December 2017

Author: Emma Hodds, Head of Internal Audit

Subject: Follow Up Report on Internal Audit Recommendations

Purpose: This report provides members with the position on the progress made by 
management in implementing agreed Internal Audit recommendations as at 31 
October 2017.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members note the contents of the report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee receives an update on management’s 
implementation of agreed audit recommendations. This report forms part of the overall 
reporting requirements to assist the Council in discharging the responsibilities in relation to 
its Internal Audit Service.

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Chief Audit to establish a process to 
monitor and follow up management actions to ensure that they have been effectively 
implemented or that senior management have accepted the risk of not taking action. The 
frequency of reporting at South Holland District Council is twice yearly.

1.3 To comply with the above this report includes the status of agreed actions.

2.0 CURRENT PROGRESS

2.1 The Governance and Audit Committee are asked to receive and note the current position in 
relation to the completion of agreed audit recommendations.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The Governance and Audit Committee are requested to receive and note the Follow Up 
Report on the implementation of Internal Audit recommendations.  In doing so, the 
Committee is ensuring that it is kept up to date and informed as to the extent to which 
management has progressed Internal Audit recommendations as at 31 October 2017.

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Corporate Priorities

4.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas reviewed are working towards the 
efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities.

4.2 Risk Management 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8.



4.2.1 Failure to implement or improve internal controls may lead to the risks associated with 
those controls materialising.

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emma Hodds Head of Internal Audit 
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email: ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting Emma Hodds

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report:  Follow Up Report on Internal Audit Recommendations

Page 82



Page 1 of 14

Eastern Internal Audit Services

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Follow Up Report on Internal Audit Recommendations

Period Covered: 1 April to 31 October 2017

Responsible Officer: Emma Hodds – Head of Internal Audit for South Holland DC

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION 2

2. STATUS OF AGREED ACTIONS 2

APPENDIX 1 – STATUS OF AGREED INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 5

APPENDIX 2 – OUTSTANDING INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS - HISTORIC
6

APPENDIX 3 OUTSTANDING INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS – 2016/17 8

APPENDIX 4 – CPBS OUTSTANDING AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 10

Page 83



Page 2 of 14

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report is being issued to assist the Authority in discharging its responsibilities in relation 
to the internal audit activity.

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards also require the Chief Audit Executive to 
establish a process to monitor and follow up management actions to ensure that they have 
been effectively implemented or that senior management have accepted the risk of not 
taking action. The frequency of reporting and the specific content are for the Authority to 
determine.

1.3 To comply with the above this report includes:

 The status of agreed actions. 

2. STATUS OF AGREED ACTIONS

2.1 As a result of audit recommendations raised by TIAA Ltd, management agree action to 
ensure implementation within a specific timeframe and by a responsible officer. 

The recommendations are subsequently uploaded on to the Council’s performance 
management system – Covalent – with this alerting management to update progress in 
advance of the due date through email alerts. Management action to date is then input with 
internal audit then either verifying the evidence provided and closing the recommendation or 
agreeing to the extension date provided.

Escalation is also in place to deal with non-responses or recommendations which have been 
overdue for a long time through the Performance, Risk and Audit Board and through the 
Finance Board as required due to the statutory requirements of the Section 151 Officer to 
ensure that appropriate risk mitigation action is being taken. Ultimately further escalation is 
through the Executive Management Team and then the Committee.

2.2 Appendix 1 to this report shows the details of the progress made to date in relation to the 
implementation of the agreed recommendations, and reflects the year in which the audit was 
undertaken to enable the Committee to easily identify old outstanding recommendations. 
The table also identifies between outstanding recommendations that have previously been 
reported to this Committee and then those which have become outstanding this time around.

2.3 The summary position according to recommendation priority is shown in the table below, 
with the previously reported position in the first table and the current position in the second 
table to enable comparison:

Status of Recommendations as at 31 March 2017

P1 P2 P3 Total %

Complete 0 11 12 23 58%

Outstanding 2 13 3 17 42%

Page 84



Page 3 of 14

Status of Recommendations as at 31 October 2017

P1 P2 P3 Total %

Complete 0 12 7 19 54%

Outstanding 2 12 2 16 46%

Key:
Priority 1 – Urgent: Fundamental control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 1 
month.
Priority 2 – Important: Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 3 months.
Priority 3 – Needs Attention: Control issue on which action to implement should be taken within 6 
months.

2.4 In relation to the historic recommendations, i.e. those which were raised by Audit 
Lincolnshire, progress has been made with three being closed since the last report, and 
eight now outstanding (two urgent and six important). 

The management responses in relation to these recommendations is reflected in Appendix 
2 of the report.

2.5 In 2016/17 internal audit has raised 48 recommendations, 40 of which have been 
implemented by management and eight of which are outstanding (six important and two 
needs attention). The management responses in relation to the six important outstanding 
recommendations can be seen at Appendix 3 of the report. 

Number raised 48

Complete 40 83%

Outstanding 8 17%

Not yet due 0 %

2.6 In 2017/18 internal audit has raised 14 recommendations to date, two of which have been 
implemented by management, none of which are outstanding and 12 are not yet due. 

Number raised to date 14

Complete 2 14%

Outstanding 0 0%

Not yet due 12 86%

Page 85



Page 4 of 14

Compass Point Business Services (CPBS) Audit Recommendations

2.7 As the Committee are aware East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) undertake the internal 
audit reviews of the CPBS key functions. Recommendations raised are then subsequently 
monitored by ELDC staff, with updates provided to the Head of Internal Audit for South 
Holland on a quarterly basis. 

2.8 The current position with those audit recommendations that were raised by ELDC prior to the 
2016/17 financial year is that there remains one outstanding, in the audit area of Starter & 
Leavers. The current management response in relation to this recommendation can be seen 
at Appendix 4 to this report, confirming that both are partially implemented. 

2.9 ELDC completed the CPBS audit reviews in quarter four of 2016/17snd raised 40 
recommendations, the current position is as follows, with the management responses to the 
eleven outstanding recommendations also attached at Appendix 4:

Number raised to date 40

Complete 26 65%

Outstanding 11 28%

Not yet due 3 7%

2.10 The recommendations will continue to be monitored by ELDC with updates provided to the 
Head of Internal Audit and then onto the Governance and Audit Committee twice yearly as 
part of these follow up reports. The Performance, Risk and Audit Board and also the Finance 
Board, when appropriate, will also closely monitor the progress made by CPBS on 
addressing the control weaknesses identified in these reviews. 

Page 86



Page 5 of 14

APPENDIX 1 – STATUS OF AGREED INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS

Priority 1 Priority 2 Priority 3 Priority 1 Priority 2 Priority 3 Priority 1 Priority 2 Priority 3 Priority 1 Priority 2 Priority 3
Audit Ref Audit Area Assurance 

Level
2014/15 Internal Audit Reviews
Audit Lincs Property Services & Gas 

Servicing
1 0

Audit Lincs HMO Licensing 1 1 5 6
2015/16 Internal Audit Reviews
Audit Lincs Housing Rents 1 0
Audit Lincs Income 1 1 2
2016/17 Internal Audit Reviews
SH1701 Corporate Health and Safety (J) Reasonable 2 0
SH1702 Branding Reasonable 1 0
SH1704 Strategic Housing Reasonable 1 1
SH1705 Ascoughfee Hall Reasonable 1 0
SH1706 Licensing and Business Support (J) Reasonable 1 1 1
SH1707 Corporate Governance (J) Reasonable 3 1 0
SH1712 Cyber Security Limited 3 2 1 1 2
SH1714 Housing Right To Buy Reasonable 4 4
2017/18 Internal Audit Reviews
SH1803 Corporate Performance (J) Substantial 2 0
SH1804 Welland Homes Reasonable 0 2 1
SH1806 Electoral Services (J) Reasonable 0 3
SH1817 IT Project Delivery Reasonable 0 1
SH1818 Planning & Planning Enforcement Reasonable 0 4 1

0 12 7 2 7 1 0 5 1 16 0 6 6

Total 
Outstanding

Not Yet Due for implementation

TOTALS

Completed bt 01/04/2017 and 
31/10/2017

Previously reported to 
Committee as outstanding

(New) Outstanding

P
age 87



Page 6 of 14

APPENDIX 2 – OUTSTANDING INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS - HISTORIC

Code & Title Audit Reference Audit 
Area

Main Contact Recommendations Priority Status Description Original 
Date Due 
for 
Completion

Revised 
Date Due for 
Completion

Latest Note

SAUDHSG002A 
HMO Licensing 
Policy

Audit Lincs Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

Policy should be reviewed and if 
necessary updated.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

31-Dec-15 31-Jan-18 Agreed with Landlord Services 
Manager to extend to 31 January 2018 
at which point this will be completed.

SAUDHSG002B 
HMO High Priority 
Cases and 
Performance Data

Audit Lincs Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

Consider prioritising high priority cases 
as they are received and acting on 
these first. Include outstanding 
referrals in performance data.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

31-Dec-15 31-Dec-17 80% complete and will finish by 31 
December 2017

SAUDHSG002C 
HMO non 
licensable 
properties

Audit Lincs Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

As part of any policy review, the 
Council may wish to consider its 
approach to the review of non 
licensable HMO properties Including 
pro-active as well as re-active options. 
It would be beneficial to try and update 
the previous exercise to try and 
assess the current scale of non-
licensable HMO's within the District.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

31-Dec-15 31-Mar-18 Some work underway, however more 
work needed therefore date of the end 
of March 2018 is more practical

SAUDHSG002D 
HMO Legal 
Enforcement

Audit Lincs Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

.Review the approach to formal 
enforcement / legal action.
Ensure that the Strategic Housing 
Manager is made formally aware of 
cases where there are ongoing issues 
of non-compliance.
Consider the approach to enforcement 
action within any revised policy.
Ensure that officers are fully trained to 
manage any formal enforcement 
action if this need to be taken at short 
notice.
Consider enforcement action being 
taken by other authorities and its 
effectiveness and resourcing 
implications.

High Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

31-Dec-15 31-Jan-18 Work in progress - on track for end of 
January 2018

P
age 88



Page 7 of 14

Code & Title Audit Reference Audit 
Area

Main Contact Recommendations Priority Status Description Original 
Date Due 
for 
Completion

Revised 
Date Due for 
Completion

Latest Note

SAUDHSG002E 
HMO Procedures

Audit Lincs Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

Review, update and consider 
extending HMO procedures.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

31-Dec-15 31-Mar-18 The team is currently being 
established and training needs 
assessed, two new officers have also 
been recruited. Procedures will be 
updated as part of the team settling 
into their new roles.

SAUDHSG002G 
HMO Website

Audit Lincs Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

Review and update the HMO / private 
sector housing website; in particular 
ensure that the application form is 
changed as soon as possible

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

31-Dec-15 31-Mar-18 Revised date of 31 March 2018 
agreed, however will be revisited to 
address progress in December 2017.

SAUDHSG004A 
Car Park Income 
Unders and Overs

Income Car 
Parks

Communities 
Manager

The level of unders and overs from car 
park income should be monitored to 
ensure they are not excessive. 
Periodic spot checks should be 
carried out on income received for 
each car park back to ticket machines 
totals.

High Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

31-Jan-17 31-Mar-18 Report to be tabled at Strategic 
Moving Forward by January 2018 in 
order for car park card payment 
equipment to be fitted by March 2018.

SAUDHSG004B 
Car Park Income 
Coding

Income Car 
Parks

Communities 
Manager

Car park income project codes should 
be checked to identify any income 
miscoded and the coding should be 
corrected.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

31-Mar-17 31-Mar-18 Report to be tabled at Strategic 
Moving Forward by January 2018 in 
order for car park card payment 
equipment to be fitted by March 2018. 
Card payments at source will provide 
better car park coding

P
age 89



Page 8 of 14

APPENDIX 3 OUTSTANDING INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS – 2016/17

Code & Title Audit Reference Audit 
Area

Main Contact Recommendations Priority Status Description Original 
Date Due 
for 
Completion

Revised Date 
Due for 
Completion

Latest Note

SAUDSHO001A 
Upon adoption of 
the Local Plan, the 
Council to produce 
/ adopt a new 
affordable housing 
policy document 
for governing its 
affordable housing 
schemes.

SH1704 Strategic 
Housing

Strategic 
Housing 
Manager

Upon adoption of the Local Plan, the 
Council to produce / adopt a new 
affordable housing policy document for 
governing its affordable housing 
schemes.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

30-Sep-17 31-Mar-18 This action is an activity that will be 
completed post the adoption of the 
Local Plan. Due to the sequencing of 
how we would adopt such a policy (i.e. 
local plan first, then what is effectively 
additional policy to expand on the 
wording within the LP), I think a 
reasonable timescale for this action is 
January 2019.

Deadline would be set as March 2018 
for further update, even though it is not 
expected that the recommendation will 
be complete at that time.

SAUDICT001F 
Whilst there are 
policy restrictions 
on the use of 
external devices 
such as USB 
memory sticks, 
there is no 
physical ability to 
enforce the policy 
restrictions

SH1712 ICT IT Manager CPBS management to work with 
South Holland District Council 
management to implement relevant 
device control systems

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

28-Apr-17 31-Mar-18 There is currently a written policy in 
place for external devices but no 
technical hard and fast solution that 
prevents use (there is a business 
requirement for some departments 
such as planning and housing to use 
external devices for taking photos etc. 
which are then connected to desktops 
and uploaded).

A recommendation is going to the ICT 
Governance Board for approval on the 
11.09.17 that a council wide group 
policy rule be deployed before 31.12.17 
allowing 'read only' from external 
devices. If an individual wishes to 
download or write to and external 
device their line manager will need to 
approve and the individual/device will 
be formally whitelisted. A clear and 
structured plan will need to be 
communicated at both councils 
leading up to rule deployment.

P
age 90



Page 9 of 14

Code & Title Audit Reference Audit 
Area

Main Contact Recommendations Priority Status Description Original 
Date Due 
for 
Completion

Revised Date 
Due for 
Completion

Latest Note

SAUDHSG007A 
Formal guidance 
be produced on 
the Council’s own 
roles and 
responsibilities

SH1714 Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

Formal guidance be produced on the 
Council’s own roles and 
responsibilities, from initial notification 
of a RTB application through to final 
outcome, including liaison with Legal 
Services Lincolnshire. Procedures to 
also include responding to and actions 
to be taken, when the RTB conditions 
are activated in the event of a RTB 
being resold.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

30-Sep-17 31-Mar-18 This needs to be a joint process 
between asset team and legal. Given 
the legal element of RTB processing 
has now been brought back in house 
this will be revisited along with a 
number of other procedures

SAUDHSG007B 
The Council to 
agree a 
management 
structure for 
oversight and 
coordination of the 
RTB process

SH1714 Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

The Council to agree a management 
structure for oversight and 
coordination of the RTB process, 
including the processes and controls 
for recording receipt of RTB conditions 
where they are invoked over the resale 
of a property sold previously under the 
RTB legislation.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

30-Sep-17 31-Mar-18 This needs a joint process with Legal 
and the Asset Team, who will manage 
right to buy.
Following the restructure of Property 
Services and the departure of the 
member of staff responsible for RTBs 
this will be reassigned

SAUDHSG007C 
The Council to 
document the 
reasons why it has 
decided either to 
buy or not to buy 
back

SH1714 Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

The Council to document the reasons 
why it has decided either to buy or not 
to buy back a property previously sold 
through the RTB scheme, in 
accordance with the 10 year option 
clause, along with the committee / 
delegated member, making that 
decision. Each supporting record to 
have its own unique reference 
identification.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

30-Sep-17 31-Mar-18

SAUDHSG007D 
The Council to 
market test its 
valuation 
arrangements

SH1714 Housing Housing 
Landlord 
Manager

The Council to market test its valuation 
arrangements for valuing properties 
subject to a RTB application.

Medium Outstanding (With 
Agreed Extension)

30-Jun-17 31-Dec-17 Work in progress and will be 
completed by the end of December 
2017
This task is currently being undertaken 
through Property Services seeking 
valuation costs through local estate 
agents and valuers

P
age 91



Page 10 of 14

APPENDIX 4 – CPBS OUTSTANDING AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS

Audit Agreed Action Priority Responsible 
Officer

Due Date Comment

Starters and Leavers CPBS to agree an action plan with client 
authorities to ensure that IT assets are 
accurately recorded within an inventory 
system. 

Medium IT Manager December 2016 Outstanding

The asset register has been 
updated and a new starters 
and leavers process has 
been employed to ensure a 
standard process is in place 
irrespective of starter 
status. Decision has been 
taken to procure a 
replacement service desk 
and currently awaiting this 
to be fully embedded. 

Revised date 31 December 
2017

HR & Payroll 3. Business Objects (Reporting tool) 
training has now been undertaken and 
the draft establishment build has been 
developed.  Time has been scheduled to 
undertake a data cleanse exercise.  
Once complete Establishments will be 
produced and shared with Managers as 
appropriate on a monthly cycle.

Medium HR Service 
Manager (Manby) 

HR Service 
Manager 
(Spalding)

June 2017 Outstanding

Majority of the data 
cleansing exercise has 
been completed. Key 
findings indicate that 
although all relevant data is 
held within the ITrent 
system; the establishment 
template requires data to be 
held in specific fields within 
the system and it is these 
updates which continue to 
be applied to allow for a 
complete and accurate 
establishment list to be 
developed. 
Although the establishment 

P
age 92



Page 11 of 14

is yet to be finalised, the 
ITrent system allows 
Service Managers to run 
detailed reports at any point 
in time including Absence 
and Staffing.

4. Documented procedure notes will be 
developed as part of the post system 
implementation process review. This will 
be undertaken as a managed project with 
timescale to be determined. 

Medium HR Service 
Manager (Manby) 

HR Service 
Manager 
(Spalding)

Payroll Officer

Project Plan 
produced   June 
2017

Full Payroll 
Review 
March 2018.

Outstanding
Revised date 31 December 
2017 and 31 March 2018

5. In the longer term, the abilities of the 
iTrent system will be explored to 
maintain this electronically to assist the 
Team Leaders and HR oversight of the 
process.

Medium HR Service 
Manager (Manby) 

HR Service 
Manager 
(Spalding)

June 2017

July 2017

Outstanding
Revised date 31 December 
2017

Accounts Receivable 
Key Controls Testing

1. Full review of the Authorisation Matrix 
will be undertaken and staff will be 
reminded to ensure their entry is kept up 
to date.

Reminder email will be issued to all staff 
on behalf of the Section 151 Officer to 
reinforce that documented authorisation 
is to be retained for all credit notes raised 
and that separation of duties should be in 
place. 

High Finance Manager 
Treasury

Head of Service, 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

October 2017

June 2017

Outstanding
Following the recent service 
restructure at ELDC the 
authorisation matrix will 
now be reviewed to ensure 
that it reflects the structural 
and management changes 
that have taken place and 
that it contains appropriate 
information. This work will 
be completed in the next 
month. 
Revised date 31 November 
2017

P
age 93



Page 12 of 14

Accountancy Services 
Key Controls

2. A work instruction project will 
commence in July to review, update and 
publish all Finance work instructions. Any 
new work instructions that are required 
for new Finance tasks will also be written 
and published, covering all AX modules. 
Financial Control Manager to approve 
before publishing.

The GL and Budgeting Policy will be 
formally reviewed and updated as 
necessary

Medium Finance Analyst

Financial Control 
Manager 

October 2017

June 2017

Outstanding
There are 130 work 
instructions currently, some 
may be deemed as no 
longer required and 
additional ones may be 
identified. 97 (81%) have 
been updated, reviewed 
and published, 23 (19%) 
are in progress and 10 have 
been determined as no 
longer required (All relating 
to Accounts Receivable, 5 
were non AX related and 5 
were for processes no 
longer carried out). Updates 
are being requested on 
progress on a weekly basis 
and it is anticipated that 
these will all be published 
by the end of November.
Revised date 31 November 
2017

8. SHDC Financial Regulations should 
be updated to reflect the actual 
authorisation process.

Medium Section 151 
Officer

September 
2017

Outstanding

Accounts Payable 7. Work instructions will be reviewed and 
amended where necessary, as part of 
the transfer of Accounts Payable to the 
Finance team.

Medium Finance Manager October 2017 Outstanding
There are 130 work 
instructions currently, some 
may be deemed as no 
longer required and 
additional ones may be 
identified. 97 (81%) have 
been updated, reviewed 
and published, 23 (19%) 
are in progress and 10 have 
been determined as no 

P
age 94



Page 13 of 14

longer required (All relating 
to Accounts Receivable, 5 
were non AX related and 5 
were for processes no 
longer carried out). Updates 
are being requested on 
progress on a weekly basis 
and it is anticipated that 
these will all be published 
by the end of November.
Revised date 31 November 
2017

Revenues Key Controls 2. The debt write off operational policy 
has been to the policy and development
panel for comment and is scheduled to 
go to Cabinet in July 2017. Write off
limits are not included within this policy.

Write off limits to be reviewed, formally 
approved and formally documented.

High Head of Service 
Revenues & 
Benefits

Section 151 
Officer

August 2017

August 2017

Outstanding

Reports regarding write off 
limits have been to Cabinet 
in July and November 2017, 
with queries raised by 
Member which need 
addressing. 

Income 1. IT are currently working with Ocella to 
develop a permanent fix to the VAT 
issue in respect of payments received 
via the Building Control Website for 
SHDC. Ocella is producing the file in 
which is loaded into the income 
management system. 

This fix is currently on hold awaiting
a quote for the work and due to an 

Medium Finance Analyst
Julie Rhodes

September 
2017

Outstanding
Waiting for the Card 
Surcharging module to be 
implemented before 
progressing with this, but as 
the law has now changed 
on this restricting where it 
may be used, Phil Adams 
has agreed to wait for the 
Card Surcharging module to 

P
age 95



Page 14 of 14

implementation of a card surcharge until 
this date the manual reconciliation is 
continuing to take place to ensure VAT is 
accounted for correctly. 
A quarterly report is being run to review 
and identify which transactions should 
be vatable.
IT hope to get the surcharge issue 
sorted by September 2017 so IT will 
approach Ocella to quote for both 
requirements.

Arrangements have now been put in 
place in which a template has been 
created on Sharepoint for any new 
income streams or fees and charges to 
notify Finance so VAT treatment can be 
assessed and the necessary 
arrangements in respect to any 
additional feeder systems.

All current Fees and charges have been 
reviewed to ensure VAT is being treated 
correctly.

be implemented before 
progressing with this, but as 
the law has now changed 
on this restricting where it 
may be used, Phil Adams 
has agreed to review.
 
 

3. The quotation spreadsheet will be 
changed so that the hourly rate cell is
password protected and therefore 
cannot be changed accidently and
subsequently inaccurate quotations 
provided.

Medium Building 
Consultancy 
Manager

June 2017 Outstanding

Housing Rents 4. Access to the Northgate system will 
be reviewed monthly.

ITrent starter/leaver/changes 
notifications will be requested.

Medium Housing
Business
Support Officer
(System
Administrator)

June 2017 Outstanding

P
age 96



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Head of Internal Audit 

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 14th December 2017

Author: Emma Hodds, Head of Internal Audit for South Holland DC

Subject: Counter Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Policy and Whistleblowing Policy.

Purpose: The Counter Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Policy and the Whistleblowing 
Policy have been updated in line with best practice and relevant legislation, 
and also to ensure that the policies reflect the practice at Breckland District 
Council.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Committee approve and agree the Counter Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Policy and the 
Whistleblowing Policy.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Committee recently carried out a self-assessment against CIPFA best practice, and as 
part of this assessed the principles which display best practice and how the Committee 
meet these.

1.2 One these principles – “Helping the authority to implement the values of good governance, 
including effective arrangements for countering fraud and corruption risks” – had an action 
point which was to ensure that the fraud related policies were updated and brought to the 
Committee for review and approval.

1.3 The Head of Internal Audit annual report on the 2016/17 financial year, which was reported 
to Committee in June 2017, also highlighted that these policies were due a review and 
update.

1.4 The Committee’s terms of reference state that one of the areas of responsibility is – “To 
review the Council’s arrangements to counter fraud and corruption, with particular regard to 
the policies on: Counter Fraud, Whistleblowing and Money Laundering.” This report 
therefore enables the Committee to fulfil and meet their obligations.

1.5 In relation to the Money Laundering Policy, this is currently being drafted to reflect the new 
regulations that came in to effect in June 2017 and will be brought to the Committeee at a 
later date. 

1.6 The Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy (Appendix 1) has been updated to 
ensure that best practice is followed and the opportunity has also been taken to update the 
responsible officers. This Policy is now in line with the Policy at Breckland, which means 
that all staff across both Councils work to the same Policy.

1.7 The Whistleblowing Policy (Appendix 2) has been updated to reflect the correct 
responsible officers and also ensure that this Policy is in line with the Policy at Breckland, 
which again ensures that all staff across both Councils work to the same Policy. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 9.



1.8 It has been agreed with the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Policy Development Panel that 
these polices should be reviewed and approved by the Governance and Audit Committee. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To review and approve the Counter Fraud Corruption & Bribery Policy and Whistleblowing 
Policy.

2.2 To review but not approve the Counter Fraud Corruption & Bribery Policy and 
Whistleblowing Policy.

2.3 To review and approve with enhancements the Counter Fraud Corruption & Bribery Policy 
and Whistleblowing Policy.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To ensure that the policies are regularly reviewed and updated, thereby ensuring that 
appropriate up to date arrangements are in place.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To encourage the prevention and identification of fraud and corruption, to raise awareness 
and to provide a confidential reporting process.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Crime and Disorder

5.1.1 By reducing the risk of fraud, corruption and money laundering, the Council can help
reduce the risk of crime.

5.2 Risk Management

5.2.1 Appropriate and effective whistleblowing arrangements will help reduce the risk of fraud,
corruption and money laundering.

5.3 Stakeholders

5.3.1 In updating these policies we have consulted with Executive Management Team and legal 
services.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Not applicable.

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emma Hodds, Head of Internal Audit for South Holland DC
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email: ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk 

Page 98

mailto:ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk


Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1 Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy
Appendix 2 Whistleblowing Policy 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



   

APPENDIX 1

South Holland District Council

Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery 
Policy

December 2017

Page 101



Page 2 of 12

Document Control and History

Version Control
Issue No. Author Issue Date Reasons for Issue
1.1 Emma 

Hodds
December 2017 Update to 2009 policy to reflect 

changes & to compliment the 
Breckland Council version

Approval of draft and final approval process
Issue No. Approval 

Process
Name Signature and Date

1.1 Gov & 
Audit 
Committee

Revision Schedule
Issue No. Approval 

Process
Name Signature and Date

Added to Policy Register
Yes/No Policy Officer Signature 

and Date
Signature and Date

Page 102



Page 3 of 12

CONTENTS

Introduction......................................................................4
Scope – Policy Aim..........................................................5
Executive Summary.........................................................5
Policy Consultation and Consideration.........................5
Policy Statement..............................................................6
Implementation ..............................................................10
Management Control and Organisation ......................10
Monitoring ......................................................................10
Related Policies and Strategies ...................................11
Appendices ....................................................................11

Page 103



Page 4 of 12

Introduction
FRAUD is a deception which is deliberate and intended to provide a direct or 
indirect personal gain. The term “fraud” can include criminal deception, 
forgery, blackmail, corruption, theft, conspiracy or the covering up of material 
facts and collusion. By using deception a fraudster can obtain an advantage, 
avoid an obligation or cause loss to another party. The Fraud Act 2006 
identifies three criminal offences:

 false representation
 failure to disclose information
 abuse of position

CORRUPTION is the deliberate misuse of your position for direct or indirect 
personal gain.

“Corruption” includes offering, giving, requesting or accepting a bribe or 
reward, which influences your actions or the actions of someone else.

THEFT is where someone steals cash or other property. A person is guilty of 
“theft” if he or she dishonestly takes property belonging to someone else and 
has no intention of returning it.

BRIBERY is, if someone was to try to offer an incentive to ensure that, for 
example, a planning application was approved, or, conversely someone 
accepted or asked for something of material value from contractors, suppliers 
or persons in return for their being approved to provide services / goods to the 
Council.

We are committed to the highest possible standards of openness, probity, 
honesty, integrity and accountability. We expect all staff, councillors and 
partners to apply these standards which are included in our codes of conduct.

We will seek to deter and prevent fraud, corruption and theft to ensure that all 
risks in these areas are reduced to the lowest level possible. Where we 
suspect or detect fraud, corruption or theft we will thoroughly investigate and 
deal with any proven fraud in a consistent and balanced way. We will apply 
appropriate sanctions against those committing fraud and will attempt to 
recover all losses.

The legal framework for fraud and corruption is defined by a number of acts. 
Primarily, the Fraud Act 2006 establishes a criminal liability for fraud through 
either false representation, failing to disclose information or abuse of position. 
Section 17 of the Theft Act 1968 creates an offence of destroying, defacing, 
concealing or falsifying any account, record or document made, or required, 
for any accounting purposes. The Bribery Act 2010 makes it an offence to 
attempt to bribe someone, or receive a bribe where that may result in 
improper discharge of a public function.

Page 104



Page 5 of 12

Scope – Policy Aim
The key objectives of this policy are to:

 Increase staff and member awareness of the corporate counter fraud 
culture which the Council actively supports and to encourage 
individuals to promptly report suspicions of fraudulent or corrupt 
behaviour

 Communicate to partners, suppliers, contractors, council owned/part 
owned companies and other organisations that interact with the Council 
that it expects them to maintain standards aimed at minimising fraud 
and corruption in their dealings with the Council

 Demonstrate the arrangements that the Council has in place to counter 
fraud and corruption

 Minimise the likelihood and extent of losses through fraud and 
corruption

This policy applies to:

 All South Holland District Council Councillors
 All South Holland District Council staff (including Compass Point 

Business Services, shared managers and officers providing services to 
and on behalf of the Council)

 Council partners, contractors, suppliers, council owned/part owned 
companies and consultants

 Any member of the public

Executive Summary
South Holland District Council is wholly opposed to all forms of fraud, 
corruption, theft or bribery. We will take action against anyone who attempts 
to defraud the Council, whether they are our own employees or Councillors, 
external organisations or members of the public. To deliver the aims of this 
policy we will:

 Accurately identify the risk of fraud
 Create and maintain a strong counter fraud culture
 Take action to deter, prevent and detect fraud, investigate and apply 

sanctions and seek redress where fraud is proven 
 Record and report our outcomes to the Governance and Audit 

Committee

Policy Consultation and Consideration
The Council’s Executive Management Team and the Governance and Audit 
Committee.

Page 105



Page 6 of 12

Policy Statement
1. The Policy 

The Council is committed to preventing and detecting all forms of fraud, 
corruption, theft and bribery. We will take action against anyone who attempts 
to defraud the Council, whether they are our own employees or Councillors, 
external organisations or members of the public. 
The Council's ambition is to continue to increase the prosperity and wellbeing 
of our residents and businesses, whilst striving to protect and enhance the 
district's environment and its unique and historic character.
We recognise our duty to provide value for money quality services to the 
community and expect all our Councillors and staff to lead by example, 
working to the highest standards and safeguarding the public resources they 
are responsible for. We will adopt a risk based approach to eradicating fraud, 
corruption, theft and bribery and promote zero tolerance, and use tools 
identified in the Local Government Fraud Strategy, Fighting Fraud Locally.
 
2. What we mean by Fraud, Corruption and Bribery
This policy outlines our approach to eradicating fraud, corruption, theft and 
bribery. Throughout this policy, these terms are defined as:

 Deliberately falsifying substituting or destroying records for personal 
gain

 Falsifying time sheets, flex time or mileage sheets
 Failure to declare an interest
 Intentional breaches of financial regulations and procedures
 The offer, giving or acceptance of inducements to influence action or 

decisions by the Council
 Selling Council equipment inappropriately
 Abuse of position as employee to benefit friends, family or others
 Use of deception with the intention of obtaining an advantage, avoiding 

an obligation or causing loss to another party
 Theft of funds, services or assets from the Council or its partners
 Evading liability for payment
 Working whilst on sick leave

The act of attempted fraud will be treated as seriously as actual fraud.

The Bribery Act 2010 makes it possible for senior officers to be convicted 
where they are deemed to have given their consent or tacit approval in giving 
or receiving a bribe. It also created the corporate offence of “Failing to prevent 
bribery on behalf of a commercial organisation.” To protect itself against the 
corporate offence the Act also requires organisations to have “adequate 
procedures in place to prevent bribery.” This policy statement, the codes of 
conduct and the Whistleblowing Policy are designed to meet that requirement.

Responsibilities
Stakeholder Specific Responsibilities

Chief Executive Accountable for the Council's overall governance 

Page 106



Page 7 of 12

arrangements including the procedures and 
effectiveness of the Council's arrangements for 
countering fraud and corruption

Monitoring Officer Advise Councillors and Officers on ethical issues, 
standards and powers to ensure that the Council 
operates within the law and statutory Codes of Practice. 
To promote, monitor and enforce probity and high ethical 
standards within the District Council and Town and 
Parish Councils within the district of South Holland

Section 151 Officer To ensure that effective procedures are in place to 
investigate promptly any fraud or irregularity. 
To evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of internal 
controls designed to secure assets and data and to 
assist management in preventing and deterring fraud 
and abuse and to examine the whole system of internal 
controls and not just the financial controls

Governance and 
Audit Committee

To review the Council’s arrangements to counter fraud 
and corruption, with particular regard to the policies on: 
Counter Fraud, Whistleblowing and Money Laundering.

Policy 
Development 
Panel

To assist the Council and the Cabinet in the 
development of its Policy Framework

Standards Panel To promote and maintenance of high standards of 
conduct within the Council

Councillors To support and promote the development of a strong 
counter fraud culture

Executive 
Management 
Team 

The Executive Management Team are responsible for 
the Council’s arrangements to manage risk.
To champion and promote the development of a strong 
counter fraud culture

External Audit Statutory duty to ensure that the Council has in place 
adequate arrangements for the prevention and detection 
of fraud, corruption and theft

Internal Audit Provide resources to implement the Council's counter 
fraud policy and for the prompt investigation of 
suspected fraud and irregularities
To ensure that action is taken to improve controls and 
reduce the risk of fraud

Managers Identify the risks to which systems, operation and 
procedures are exposed; developing and maintaining 
effective controls to prevent and detect fraud; ensuring 
controls are complied with
Notify the Section 151 Officer immediately of any 

Page 107



Page 8 of 12

suspected fraud, irregularity, improper use or 
misappropriation of the Council's property or resources. 
Pending investigation and reporting, taking all necessary 
steps to prevent further loss and to secure records and 
documentation against removal or alteration

Staff To comply with Council policies and procedures, to be 
aware of the possibility of fraud, corruption and theft, 
and to report any concerns immediately to their manager 
or the Section 151 Officer

Benefit Fraud 
Team

To provide an effective and efficient benefit fraud service 
for the Council

Public, Partners, 
Suppliers, 
Contractors and 
Consultants

To be aware of the possibility of fraud and corruption 
against the Council and report any concerns or 
suspicions

3. Our Approach

We will fulfil our responsibility to reduce fraud and protect our resources by a 
strategic approach consistent with that outlined in the Local Government 
Fraud Strategy - Fighting Fraud Locally.

The three key themes are Acknowledge – Prevent – Pursue:

ACKNOWLEDGE

Committing Support The Council will have commitment to tackling 
the fraud threat.  We have robust whistle 
blowing procedures which support those who 
come forward to report suspected fraud.  All 
reports will be treated seriously and acted upon.  
We will not, however, tolerate malicious 
allegations.

Assessing and 
Understanding Risks

We will continuously assess those areas most 
vulnerable to the risk of fraud in conjunction with 
our Risk Management arrangements and risk 
based Internal Audit reviews.  Through these 
assessments we can understand how fraud 
affects the Council and what we can do about it.

Robust Response We will strengthen measures to prevent fraud – 
the Internal Audit service and the Investigation 
Teams will work with managers and policy 
makers to ensure new and existing systems and 
policy initiatives are adequately fraud proofed.

PREVENT

Better Use of Information & We will make greater use of data and analytical 
Page 108



Page 9 of 12

Technology
Working with Others

software to prevent and detect fraudulent 
activity.  We will look for opportunities to share 
data and fraud intelligence to increase our 
capability to uncover potential and actual fraud.
Our systems are designed to meet key control 
objectives and minimise the opportunity for 
fraud. We will continue to review systems and 
make sure appropriate internal controls are in 
place and adhered to and implement 
improvements.

Anti-Fraud Culture We will promote and develop a strong counter 
fraud culture, raise awareness and provide 
information on all aspects of our counter fraud 
work.  This will include publicising the results of 
all proactive work, fraud investigations, 
successful sanctions and any recovery of losses 
due to fraud.
We will work to a corporate framework that 
identifies responsibilities for decision making 
and rules of procedure and ensures the highest 
standards of conduct are practiced by staff, 
Councillors and those we do business with.
We will carry out due diligence when appointing 
staff, carrying out relevant checks on references 
and qualifications and providing appropriate 
training. 

Corporate approach Through the Corporate Risk Management 
framework and risk based Internal Audit reviews 
we will identify potentially vulnerable areas.

PURSUE

Fraud Recovery A crucial element of our response to tackling 
fraud is recovering any monies lost through 
fraud – this is an important part of our strategy 
and will be rigorously pursued, where possible.

Punishing Fraudsters We will apply realistic and effective sanctions for 
individuals or organisations where an 
investigation reveals fraudulent activity.  This 
may include legal action, criminal and/or 
disciplinary action, where appropriate.

Enforcement Appropriately trained investigators will 
investigate any fraud detected through the 
planned proactive work, cases of suspected 
fraud referred from internal or external 
stakeholders or received via the whistle blowing 

Page 109



Page 10 of 12

arrangements.

Implementation
Service Managers are responsible for making sure that all staff are familiar 
with the content of this policy. Under its terms of reference it is the role of the 
Governance and Audit Committee to review the Council procedures, 
incidences and actions for handling allegations from whistle blowers, and 
Counter fraud corruption and bribery policy. 

The Section 151 Officer is responsible for making sure that the Council has 
control systems and measures in place and is accountable for the 
implementation of this policy. 

There is a source of support for Fraud under the Council's Internal Audit 
Contract. 

Communication plans and training are very important in highlighting 
awareness and Management Team and Service Managers have a key role to 
play in making sure this happens.

Reporting concerns of Fraud, Corruption and Bribery

Anyone who has a concern that a potential incident of fraud, corruption or 
bribery has arisen should always attempt to raise these concerns at the 
earliest opportunity.  

The Council acknowledges that this can be difficult and challenging to do in 
some cases and the Whistleblowing Policy has been established in order to 
provide those raising concerns with a safe avenue with which to do so.  

It also offers sources of advice and guidance that they may turn to.  The 
Whistleblowing Policy can be found on the Councils intranet and internet sites.  
In addition, Appendix 1 to this policy provides details of the Council’s 
Whistleblowing contacts.

Management Control and Organisation
See Implementation and Monitoring sections.

Monitoring 
This policy is to be reviewed at least every three years (or more frequently if 
required by changes to statutory legislation).  Prior to any approval, the 
following parties shall be consulted:

 The Council’s Executive Management Team 

 The Governance and Audit Committee

On an annual basis, the policy shall be reviewed by the Head of Internal Audit 
and Section 151 Officer to ensure that details remain relevant and up-to-date.  
This review will not require re-endorsement of the policy

Page 110



Page 11 of 12

The policy will be also monitored in the following ways:
MONITORING ACTIVITY PERSON RESPONSIBLE
Incidence of fraud Section 151 Officer and Governance 

and Audit Committee 
Annual Governance Statement Executive Management Team and 

Governance and Audit Committee
Annual returns Section 151 Officer

Related Policies and Strategies
Whistle blowing – Confidential Reporting Code

Anti-Money Laundering Policy

Members’ Code of Conduct

ICT Security Policy

Financial Regulations

Benefit Fraud Policy

Officers’ Code of Conduct

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Contacts for Whistle blowing

Page 111



Page 12 of 12

Appendix 1
Contacts for Whistle Blowing

Raising concerns internally
Chief Executive Anna Graves

Chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01362 656870

Executive Director Commercialisation 
(Statutory S151 Officer)

Christine Marshall

Christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01775 764567

Executive Director Strategy & 
Governance (Monitoring Officer)

Maxine O’Mahony
Maxine.omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01775 764603

Executive Director Place Rob Walker
Rob.Walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01775 764643

Head of Internal Audit Emma Hodds
ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

01508 533791

Human Resources Manager Claire Burton
Claire.Burton@cpbs.com

01775 764458

The National Benefit Fraud Hotline 

For raising suspicions concerning 
Housing Benefits Fraud

0800 854 440

The Council 
For raising suspicions concerning 
Council Tax Support Fraud

0800 002 008

Page 112

mailto:Chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Maxine.omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Rob.Walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.Burton@cpbs.com


APPENDIX 2

South Holland District Council

Whistle Blowing Policy – Confidential 
Reporting Code

December 2017

Page 113



Page 2 of 22

Document Control and History

Version Control

Issue No. Author Issue Date Reasons for Issue

1.0 Emma 
Hodds

December 2017 Update to policy to reflect 
changes & to compliment the 
Breckland Council version

Approval of draft and final approval process

Issue No. Approval 
Process

Name Signature and Date

1.0 Gov & 
Audit 
Cttee

Revision Schedule

Issue No. Approval 
Process

Name Signature and Date

Page 114



Page 3 of 22

Added to Policy Register

Yes/No Policy Officer Signature 
and Date

Signature and Date

Page 115



Page 4 of 22

CONTENTS

Introduction......................................................................5
Scope – Policy Aim..........................................................6
Legislation or Executive Summary ................................6
Policy Consultation and Consideration.........................6
Policy Statement..............................................................6
Implementation ..............................................................12
Management Control and Organisation ......................12
Monitoring ......................................................................12
Related Policies and Strategies ...................................13
Appendices ....................................................................14

Page 116



Page 5 of 22

Introduction
What is Whistle blowing?

Whistle blowing is the raising of a significant concern.  These concerns may 
cover issues of fraud, misconduct, or illegality, and this policy is designed to 
ensure that people know how to raise a genuine concern, and can do so in 
the knowledge that they will not face reprisal for their action.

Public Concern at Work (a charity which provides independent advice and 
information on whistle blowing) draws the following distinction between whistle 
blowing and pursuing a complaint:

“When someone blows the whistle they are raising a concern about danger or 
illegality that affects others (e.g. customers, members of the public, or their 
employer). The person blowing the whistle is usually not directly, personally 
affected by the danger or illegality. Consequently, the whistle blower rarely 
has a personal interest in the outcome of any investigation into their concern - 
they are simply trying to alert others. For this reason, the whistle blower 
should not be expected to prove the malpractice. He or she is a messenger 
raising a concern so that others can address it.”

What is the purpose of the Whistle blowing Policy?

Employees, councillors and others who deal with the Council may be the first 
to spot things that may be wrong or inappropriate within the Council. However, 
they might not say anything because they think this would be disloyal, or they 
might be concerned that their suspicions are unjustified or might turn out to be 
so after enquiry. They may also be worried that they or someone else might 
be victimised, or are unclear with whom to raise their concern.

Members of the public may also have concerns, but be unsure how and when 
to express them. 

South Holland District Council has produced this Whistle Blowing Policy to 
help: 

 Councillors
 employees (including temporary and agency staff) 
 others with whom the Council has dealings (e.g. contractors, partners, 

suppliers and voluntary organisations), and 
 members of the public 

to understand how and when to contact the Council with their concerns.

The Council is committed to maintaining an open culture with the highest 
standards of honesty and accountability. It takes all inappropriate behaviour 
very seriously and is committed to investigating any genuine concerns raised.

This policy aims to ensure that any concerns can be raised with confidence 
and without any worry on the part of the whistle blower about being victimised, 
discriminated against or disadvantaged in any way as a result.

Page 117



Page 6 of 22

Scope – Policy Aim
The policy aims to:

 encourage you to feel confident in raising serious or sensitive concerns 
about inappropriate behaviour and to question and act upon concerns

 provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback 
on any action taken

 ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are 
aware of how to pursue them if you are not satisfied

 reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or 
victimization if you have a reasonable belief that you have raised any 
concern in good faith

This policy applies to:

 South Holland District Council Councillors

 All Council staff (including Compass Point Business Services, shared 
managers and officers providing services to and on behalf of the 
Council)

 Council partners, contractors, suppliers, council owned/part owned 
companies and consultants

 South Holland residents

Executive Summary
The aim of this policy is to maintain a working environment where people, 
whether they are employees of the Council, suppliers, contractors, councillors 
or private individuals co-opted on to committees of the Council are able to 
raise concerns where they think there is misconduct or malpractice, and to 
know that their concerns will be taken seriously and investigated. 

The policy is intended to give confidence to employees to whistle blow and, as 
such, it incorporates statutory provision for protection under the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act 1998. Members of the public may also have concerns. That is 
why we have produced this whistle blowing policy not only to help our staff but 
we have published this document on our website to enable the public to also 
contact us with their concerns.

Policy Consultation and Consideration
The Council’s Executive Management Team and Governance and Audit 
Committee

Policy Statement
1. Policy Coverage

What types of concern are covered by the policy?

Page 118



Page 7 of 22

This policy is intended to deal with serious or sensitive concerns about 
inappropriate behaviour.  The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 outlines that 
a “protected” disclosure of a concern is one which demonstrates one or more 
of the following:   

 A criminal offence has been committed, or is likely to be committed

 Disclosures related to a miscarriage of justice

 A failure to comply with a legal obligation

 The endangering of an individual’s health and safety 

 Unnecessary damage to the environment (for example, by pollution) 

 Deliberate concealment of information relating to any of the above.

Beyond the legal context above, the Council would encourage employees, 
members of the public, and any other interested parties to raise any significant 
concerns that they may have, as soon as they are reasonably aware of them.  
These concerns could be about any aspects of the Council’s activities, e.g. 
with reference to Council employees, Members, or suppliers acting on behalf 
of the Council, and relate to issues that are either occurring now or likely to 
happen in the future.

What is not covered by the Policy?

The Council has a number of policies and procedures to address other 
matters, for example: 

 Employees’ complaints about their terms and conditions of 
employment. These matters are dealt with through the Grievance 
Procedure. 

 Instances of bullying and harassment of Council’s employees are dealt 
with through the Harassment and Bullying Prevention Policy.

 Complaints from members of the public about the Council’s services. 
These are dealt with through the Council’s Complaints Procedure.

 Concerns regarding safeguarding will be dealt with through the 
Council’s Safeguarding Policy.

 Concerns with reference to members should be referred to the 
Monitoring Officer.

This policy is not designed to question financial or business decisions taken 
by the Council nor may it be used to reconsider any matters that have already 
been addressed under the harassment, grievance, disciplinary or complaints 
procedures.

2. Safeguards

Protecting the Whistle Blower

Page 119



Page 8 of 22

In accordance with the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998, South Holland 
District Council undertakes to protect, as best it can, an employee who blows 
the whistle from personal claims, victimisation, harassment or bullying as a 
result of his or her disclosure.  This assurance is not extended to someone 
who maliciously raises a matter they know is untrue; such instances may be 
subject to the Council’s disciplinary procedures.  

Any employee or councillor taking any reprisal or similar action against a 
whistle blower because he or she has made a protected disclosure under this 
policy will be subject to disciplinary action by the Council.

The Council will, at the request of the whistle blower, keep the nature of 
concerns confidential. It will not reveal names or positions without permission, 
unless it has to by law, or an enquiry results in a criminal investigation in 
which the whistle blower might be required as a witness. Whistle blowers 
should be aware, however, that the fact that enquiries are being made might, 
of itself, result in their identity becoming known.  Where possible, the Council 
will make you aware if your identity is likely to be compromised through 
investigation.

All these matters will be explained at the time a concern is raised so the 
whistle blower can decide whether or not to proceed. The Council will also 
keep the whistle blower informed if the situation significantly changes.

Anonymous Allegations

The Council encourages whistle blowers to give their name when making an 
allegation. It will do all it can to protect the whistle blower. Concerns raised 
anonymously tend to be far less effective and if, for example, the Council does 
not have enough information, it may not be able to investigate the matter at 
all. 

Also, from a practical point of view, it is impossible to provide protection to a 
person whose identity is unknown and more difficult to judge whether the 
concern is made in good faith or maliciously.

If whistle blowers feel that they cannot give their name, the Council will make 
a judgement on whether or not to consider the matter depending upon such 
things as:

 the seriousness of the issue 

 whether the concern is believable; and 

 whether it can carry out a sufficient investigation based on the 
information provided 

Assurances to third parties

The assurances provided to employees raising concerns cannot be given in 
the same way to third parties.  For example, the Council cannot guarantee 
protection to employees of third party (contractor) organisations.  However, 
we expect that all contractors are aware of the Council’s whistle blowing 
procedures, and act in accordance with these.

Page 120



Page 9 of 22

Further, with regard to members of the Public, whilst they are not afforded 
statutory protection in the same way as employees, the Council is committed 
to treating all citizens fairly.  Raising a concern under this policy will not affect 
the rights of any council citizens as set out within the Council’s Constitution.  

Untrue Allegations

If a whistle blower makes an allegation which they believe is true, but it is not 
confirmed by an investigation, the Council will not take any action against 
them.

However, if a whistle blower makes a deliberately false or malicious allegation 
which they know is untrue, the Council will take appropriate disciplinary or 
legal action against them. Allegations of this nature are not protected by the 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998.

3. How to raise a Concern

Guidance for Members of the Public, Contractors, Councillors and 
Partners

Members of the Public, Contractors and Councillors and those involved with 
partner organisations who suspect a Council Employee, another Councillor, 
Organisational Partners or other Contractors (in their dealings with the 
Council) of impropriety or illegality should contact one of the following:

 The Chief Executive
 Any Executive Director
 The Monitoring Officer 
 Head of Internal Audit

If your concern relates to one of the above officers, you should contact the 
Council’s External Auditor. 

All contact details are included within Appendix 1 of this policy.

Guidance for Employees

Whistle blowers should not attempt to investigate any concern themselves, 
but raise their concern using one of the avenues shown below.

A Council employee should first raise a concern with their manager. Guidance 
to employees on how to proceed is contained in the document “Guidance for 
employees -  How to react to concerns of inappropriate behaviour” – see 
Appendix 2.

Guidance to managers on how to deal with a concern is contained in the 
document “Guidance for Managers – How to react to concerns of 
inappropriate behaviour” – see Appendix 3. 

If the employee feels that it is inappropriate to raise a concern with their 
manager given the person involved and/or the seriousness or sensitivity of the 
matter, contact should be made with one of the following officers

Page 121



Page 10 of 22

 The Chief Executive

 Any Executive Director (includes S151 Officer and Monitoring Officer)

 Officers in the Council’s Executive Management Team

 HR Manager

 Head of Internal Audit

If your concern relates to any of the Officers above, this should be referred to 
the Chief Executive.  If your concern relates to the Chief Executive, then this 
matter can be raised with the Leader of the Council (or the Deputy Leader of 
the Council if the Leader is unavailable) or the Council’s External Auditors.

Whistle blowers are encouraged to raise concerns promptly and where 
possible in writing, giving as much information as possible, such as relevant 
background, names, dates, places and the reason for their concern. However, 
concerns can be raised by telephone or by meeting the appropriate officer. 
The earlier a concern is raised, the easier it will be to take effective action.

Although it will not be necessary to prove beyond doubt that an allegation is 
true, a whistle blower will be expected to demonstrate that there are 
reasonable grounds for voicing their concern.

Any whistle blower will be asked to declare any personal interest they may 
have in the concern being raised.

The Council has developed procedures as to how whistle blowing concerns 
should be reviewed and investigated.  It is recommended that anyone who 
raises a concern refers to these to identify the next course of action that will 
be taken in response to the issue raised.  

In matters concerning the health, safety and welfare of those on our premises 
(whether members of staff, contractors or visitors) anyone, including an 
elected safety representative, who becomes aware of a hazard (actual or 
potential) or dangerous occurrence should immediately notify the Health and 
Safety Advisor, before contacting any outside body, to ensure that immediate 
action can be taken if necessary to deal with the hazard. Contact can be 
made by telephone, email or the sending of a written report as appropriate to 
the situation.

Sources of support for the whistle blower

People who do not work for the Council might want to discuss their concern 
with a friend or colleague first. They may then find it easier to raise a concern 
if others share the same experiences or concerns.

For employees who are members of a union, trade union representatives can 
give general support and advice, or act on their behalf if this would help. This 
could be useful, particularly if the employee wishes to remain anonymous, to 
the extent that is possible.

Page 122



Page 11 of 22

The Council will encourage the trade unions to support any member of staff 
who raises a concern with them.

The Council further welcomes any member of staff to consult with Public 
Concern at Work if they are not sure about whistle blowing.  Public Concern at 
Work are an independent charity who provide confidential support and advice 
to whistle blowers through a telephone helpline and the internet.  Further 
details for Public Concern at Work are included in Appendix 1.

Raising issues with an external party

Concerns are most readily addressed where they are raised internally in the 
first instance.  However, there may be situations where you feel it is 
inappropriate to raise the concern internally, or unable to do so.  Alternatively, 
you may have already raised a concern and are dissatisfied with the outcome.  
In these situations, there are a number of other parties to whom you may turn:

 Relevant Regulatory Organisations (e.g. the Environment Agency, 
Health and Safety Executive or Local Government Ombudsman)

 The Police (where a criminal matter is involved)

 Public Concern at Work

Contact details for all parties are included within Appendix 1.

Before consulting an external party, the Council recommends that the whistle 
blower seeks independent legal advice (disclosure to a legal advisor is 
protected by law).  The law most readily protects disclosures that are seen to 
be “reasonable”, i.e. disclosures that are made within the Council, or to an 
appropriate regulator at an early stage.  If the matter is taken outside of the 
Council, the whistle blower should ensure they do not disclose information 
about a third party that may be covered by a duty of confidentiality (e.g. 
commercially sensitive information or personal, private data).

Withdrawing your Allegation

You have the right to withdraw any allegation previously made under this 
policy and procedure.  You should think very carefully before taking this 
course of action, bearing in mind an investigation may have started and you 
may need to explain this change of decision.  If it considered appropriate, 
despite the complainant withdrawing the allegation, the investigation of the 
allegation may continue if it is deemed necessary.

How the Council will Respond

Appendix 4 gives details on how the Council will respond to concerns raised 
under this Whistleblowing policy.

Implementation
Responsible Officer for Whistle Blowing

The Council’s Monitoring Officer is the Senior Officer in the Council who can 
take an independent view of any concerns raised.  

Page 123



Page 12 of 22

All concerns raised will be handled in line with the Whistle blowing Procedural 
Guidance.

 Responsibility for the Whistle Blowing Policy

All concerns raised and the outcomes will be reported to the Governance and 
Audit Committee annually in a form that does not endanger confidentiality.

Management Control and Organisation
See Implementation section

Monitoring 
This policy is to be reviewed at least every 3 years (or more frequently if 
required by changes to statutory legislation).  Prior to any approval, the 
following parties shall be consulted:

 The Council’s Executive Management Team 

 The Governance and Audit Committee

On an annual basis, Appendix 1 of the policy, which provides details of the 
key parties responsible for whistleblowing, shall be reviewed by the Head of 
Internal Audit and Section 151 Officer to ensure that details remain relevant 
and up-to-date.  This review will not require re-endorsement of the policy.

Related Policies and Strategies
Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy

Members’ Code of Conduct

ICT Security Policy

Financial Regulations

Benefit Fraud Policy

Officers’ Code of Conduct

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Contacts for Whistle blowing

Appendix 2 – Guidance for Employees

Appendix 3 – Guidance for Managers

Appendix 4 – How the Council Will Respond

Page 124



Page 13 of 22

Appendix 1

Contacts for Whistle Blowing

Raising concerns internally

Chief Executive Anna Graves

Chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01362 656870

Executive Director Commercialisation 
(Statutory S151 Officer)

Christine Marshall

Christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01775 764567

Executive Director Strategy & 
Governance (Monitoring Officer)

Maxine O’Mahony

Maxine.omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

01775 764603

Executive Director Place Rob Walker

Rob.Walker@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

01775 764643

Head of Internal Audit Emma Hodds

ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

01508 533791

Human Resources Manager Claire Burton 

Claire,Burton@cpbs.com

01775 764458

Page 125

mailto:Chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Christine.marshall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Maxine.omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Page 14 of 22

Raising Concerns Externally

Public Concern at Work - 
www.pcaw.org.uk

For support with how to raise concerns, 
and action to take

Public Concern at Work

CAN Mezzanine

7-14 Great Dover Street

London

SE1 4YR

020 7404 6609

whistle@pcaw.org.uk

External Audit

For issues relating to financial probity and 
governance including the proper conduct 
of public business, value for money, fraud 
and corruption in relation to the provision 
of centrally funded public services

KPMG LLP (UK)

St. Nicholas House

31 Park Row

Nottingham

NG1 6FQ

www.kpmg.co.uk

The Local Government Ombudsman

The Commission for Local Administration 
in England

For maladministration 

For Complaints against Councils – will 
cover all complaints

The Oaks

No2 Westwood Way

Westwood Business Park

Coventry

CV4 8JB

0845 6021983

Lincolnshire Constabulary

For all breaches of the law (except as 
noted below)

Deepdale Lane

Nettleham

LN2 2LT

Serious Fraud Office – www.sfo.gov.uk

Fraud and Corruption issues

2-4 Cockspur Street

London

SW1Y 5BS

020 7239 7272

confidential@sfo.gsi.gov.uk

Page 126

http://www.pcaw.org.uk/
mailto:whistle@pcaw.org.uk


Page 15 of 22

National Crime Agency – 
www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk

For Money Laundering Issues

Units 1-6 Citadel Place

Tinworth Street

London

SE11 5EF

0370 496 7622

The Health and Safety Executive – 
www.hse.gov.uk

Kingsley Dunham Centre

Nicker Hill

Keyworth

Nottingham

NG12 5GG

The Environment Agency – 
www.environment-agency.gov.uk

For environmental crimes

National Customer Contact Centre

PO Box 544

Rotherham

S60 1BY

03708 506 506

Page 127

http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/


Page 16 of 22

Appendix 2

GUIDANCE FOR EMPLOYEES

HOW TO REACT TO CONCERNS OF INAPPROPRIATE BEHAVIOUR

The action you take when you suspect inappropriate behaviour may 
have happened, or be about to happen, can be crucial.  Inappropriate 
behaviour is described in the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy as:

 Any criminal offence, particularly fraud or corruption 

 Unauthorised use of Council money 

 A failure to comply with a legal obligation

 The endangering of an individual’s health and safety 

 Unnecessary damage to the environment (for example, by pollution) 

 A person abusing their position for any unauthorised use or for 
personal gain 

 A person deliberately not keeping to a Council policy or an official code 
of practice (e.g. the Council’s Counter Fraud Strategy, the Employees’ 
or Members’ Code of Conduct)

 A person failing to meet appropriate professional standards 

 Deliberate concealment of information relating to any of the above.

Following these simple rules should help the Council in carrying out 
enquiries into any concerns you have.

DO

 Make an immediate note of your concerns.

Note all relevant details, such as what was said in telephone or other 
conversations, the date, time and the names of any parties involved.

 Convey your suspicions to someone with the appropriate 
authority and experience in accordance with the Council’s Whistle 
Blowing Policy.

 Deal with the matter promptly if you feel your concerns are 
warranted.

Delay may cause the Council to suffer further financial loss or make further 
enquiry more difficult.

DON’T  

Do nothing.

Be afraid of raising your concerns.

Page 128



Page 17 of 22

You will not suffer any recrimination from the Council as a result of voicing a 
reasonably held suspicion. The Council will treat the matter sensitively and 
confidentially, and will take reasonable steps to protect anyone who raises a 
well intentioned concern.

Approach or accuse any individuals directly.

Try to investigate the matter yourself.

There are special rules surrounding the gathering of evidence. Any attempt to 
gather evidence by people who are unfamiliar with these rules may weaken or 
destroy any future prosecution should that be thought appropriate.

Convey your suspicions to anyone other than those indicated in 
the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy.

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 - will protect you from any reprisals as 
long as you meet the rules set out in the Act.  The rules are:

 You must disclose the information in good faith

 You must reasonably believe it to be substantially true

 You must not seek any personal gain

Page 129



Page 18 of 22

Appendix 3

GUIDANCE FOR MANAGERS

HOW TO REACT TO CONCERNS OF INAPPROPRIATE BEHAVIOUR

The action you take when you identify, or are made aware of, suspected 
inappropriate behaviour can be crucial in determining the success of 
any subsequent enquiries. Inappropriate behaviour is described in the 
Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy as:

 Any criminal offence, particularly fraud or corruption 

 Unauthorised use of Council money 

 A failure to comply with a legal obligation

 The endangering of an individual’s health and safety 

 Unnecessary damage to the environment (for example, by pollution) 

 A person abusing their position for any unauthorised use or for 
personal gain 

 A person deliberately not keeping to a Council policy or an official code 
of practice (e.g. the Council’s Counter Fraud Strategy, the Employees’ 
or Members’ Code of Conduct)

 A person failing to meet appropriate professional standards 

 Deliberate concealment of information relating to any of the above.

Following these simple rules will help to ensure that matters are 
properly handled.

As a manager you should familiarise yourself with both the Council’s 
Policy to help fight Fraud and Corruption and its Whistle Blowing Policy

DO

 Be responsive to employees’ concerns.

As part of the Council’s anti-fraud and corruption culture, you should 
encourage employees to voice any reasonably held suspicion. As a manager 
you should treat all employees’ concerns seriously and sensitively.

 Note details.

Get as much information as possible from the employee reporting the 
suspicion and encourage them to record this in writing. If the employee has 
made any notes, request access to these

Page 130



Page 19 of 22

Note any documentary evidence which may exist to support the allegations 
made, but do not interfere with this evidence in any way.

 Evaluate the allegation objectively

Before you take the matter further determine whether any suspicions appear 
to be justified.

Be objective when evaluating the issue. Consider the facts as they appear 
based on information you have to hand.

If in doubt, report your suspicions anyway.

If you consider that no further action is necessary, you should still record your 
decision and also inform the Monitoring Officer of the original notification 
details.

 Advise the appropriate person

If you feel that a suspicion is justified advise an appropriate officer in 
accordance with the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy

 Deal with the matter promptly if you feel your concerns are 
warranted.

Delay may cause the Council to suffer further financial loss or make further 
enquiry more difficult.

DON’T

Ridicule suspicions raised by employees

The Council cannot operate an effective anti-fraud and corruption culture or 
Whistle Blowing Policy if employees are reluctant to pass on their concerns to 
management due to fear of ridicule or recrimination.

You need to ensure that all employee concerns are given a fair hearing. You 
should reassure employees that they will not suffer recrimination by raising 
any reasonably held suspicion.

Approach or accuse any individuals directly

Convey your suspicions to anyone other than those indicated in 
the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy

Try to investigate the matter yourself

Page 131



Page 20 of 22

Investigations by employees who are unfamiliar with the requirements of 
evidence are highly likely to jeopardise a successful outcome. They may also 
alert the suspect and result in the destruction of evidence.

Your primary responsibility is to report the issue and all associated facts 
to the appropriate officer, wherever possible.

Page 132



Page 21 of 22

Appendix 4

How the Council Will Respond

Whoever you raise your concerns with and whether the concern is made by 
an employee, member of the public, contractor, councillor or partner, an 
impartial person will be appointed to investigate your concern and you will be 
informed of who this is.  Confidentiality will be maintained in accordance with 
this policy.

In order to protect individuals and those accused of misdeeds or possible 
malpractice, initial enquiries will be made to decide whether an investigation is 
appropriate and, if so what form it should take.  The overriding principle which 
the Council will have in mind is the public interest.  Concerns or allegations 
which fall within the scope of specific procedures (for example, harassment or 
discrimination issues) will normally be referred for consideration under those 
procedures.

Following these initial enquiries the Council will respond to your concerns as 
appropriate and establish whether or not:

 Your concerns should be considered under this policy
 Your concerns can be allayed satisfactorily without invoking a formal 

whistleblowing investigation
 No further investigation is necessary
 Your concerns may be resolved by other mechanisms or action, e.g. 

mediation, training or review
 There is sufficient substance behind your concerns to trigger an 

investigation

Where there is sufficient evidence behind the concerns to trigger an 
investigation the concern will either:

 Be investigated by management or internal audit; or
 Be referred to the Police; or
 Be referred to the external auditor; or
 Form the subject of an independent enquiry

Some concerns may be resolved by action agreed with you without the need 
for investigation.  If urgent action is required this will be taken before any 
investigation is conducted.

Within 10 working days of a concern being raised, the person appointed to 
investigate your concern will contact you (in a way which does not arose 
suspicions in your workplace):

 Acknowledging that the concern has been received
 Indicating how we propose to deal with the matter
 Giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a final response
 Telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made
 Supplying you with information on staff support mechanisms

Page 133



Page 22 of 22

 Advising you of your entitlement to seek advice and representation 
from your trade union representative

 Telling you whether further investigations will take place and if not, why 
not; and

 To agree with you how to proceed if you have chosen to remain 
anonymous.

The Council will do what it can to minimise any difficulties, which you may 
experience as a result of raising a concern.  For instance, if you are required 
to give evidence in criminal or disciplinary proceedings the Council will 
arrange for you to receive advice about the procedure and other appropriate 
support.

Once the person appointed to investigate your concern has completed their 
investigations, they will produce a written report that sets out:

 The background to the whistleblowing concern;
 The findings of fact and associated evidence;
 The decision and reasons for the decision; and
 The recommendations and associated action plan

The Council accepts that you need to be assured that the matter has been 
properly addressed.  Subject to legal constraints and any confidentiality or 
other issues, we will inform you of the outcome of any investigation.

Page 134



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation and Section 151 
Officer

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 14 December 2017

(Author: Sean Howsam – Finance Manager Treasury (Compass Point Business 
Services (CPBS))) 

Subject: Mid Term Treasury Report 2017/18 

Purpose: To provide an update on the Treasury Management position of the Council 
as at 30 September 2017.

Recommendations: 

1            That Governance and Audit Committee note this report, the economic update from Link 
Asset Services at Appendix A and the treasury activity as detailed in Appendix B and 
make any comments for consideration by Council at their meeting on 17 January 2018.

2            That Governance and Audit Committee refer to Council the additional wording to the
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy contained in the Treasury Management Strategy 
2017/18 as detailed in paragraph 1.1 below, for approval at their meeting on 17 January 
2018.

1.0 BACKGROUND

Treasury management is defined as: “The management of the local authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; 
the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of 
optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the 
year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management operations ensure 
this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk 
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering maximising 
investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the 
Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can meet its 
capital spending obligations.  This management of longer term cash may involve 
arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on 
occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost 
objectives.

The Treasury Management function is administered by Compass Point Business Services 
on behalf of the Council.

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management 2011 was adopted by this Council on 8 March 2012 which means 
that the following principles and actions should be in place:-

Page 135

Agenda Item 10.



• Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets 
out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management activities;

• Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the 
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives;

• Receipt by full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement - 
including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy - 
for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report (this report) and an Annual Report 
(stewardship report) covering activities during the previous year;

• Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring 
treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions; and 

• Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy 
and policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the delegated body is the 
Governance and Audit Committee.

Attached at Appendix A is an economic update from Link Asset Services and Appendix 
B the 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy update for scrutiny to enable Governance and Audit to make any comments for 
consideration by Council at their meeting on 17 January 2018.

The mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management, and covers the following:

• An economic update for the 2017/18 financial year to 30 September 2017;
• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 

Strategy;
• The Council’s capital expenditure (prudential indicators);
• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2017/18;
• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2017/18;
• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2017/18;
• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2017/18.

1.1 SUMMARY OF KEY CHANGES AND ISSUES

The main changes and issues for members consideration are set out below.

There is additional wording being recommended to the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Policy contained in the Treasury Management Strategy 2017/18 due to an omission. It is 
recommended that the following paragraph be added to section 2.3 of the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2017/18: 

“Any equity investment made in Welland Homes and South Holland Local Housing 
Company which is classed as capital expenditure will increase the Council’s Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).  The Council will earmark the proceeds from any 
sale of equity interest to reduce the CFR and therefore will not apply MRP on such 
equity investments.”

The Council’s Treasury Advisors, Capita Asset Services were acquired by Link Group on
6 November 2017 and subsequently changed their name to Link Asset Services. There 
are no changes to the contractual arrangements. The Council continues to use Link Asset
Services colour coding methodology to select suitable counterparties.

The Bank of England base rate increased to 0.50% on 2 November 2017. Further details 
on the economic outlook are included in Appendix A (Update from Link Asset Services).

Page 136



The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy has recently been conducting 
a review of the Treasury Management Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance 
Notes. The Department for Communities for Local Government (DCLG) has also been 
consulting on proposed changes to the Prudential Framework of Capital Finance.  
Following the review there will be an impact on Local Authority Investment Guidance and 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) guidance which is currently out to consultation. 

A particular focus of this exercise is how to deal with local authority investments which are 
not treasury type investments e.g. by investing in purchasing property in order to generate 
income for the authority at a much higher level than can be attained by treasury 
investments.  One recommendation is that local authorities should produce a new report 
to members to give a high level summary of the overall capital strategy and to enable 
members to see how the cash resources of the authority have been apportioned between 
treasury and non-treasury investments. 

This may require changes to the 2018/19 Policy documents (Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and the Council’s MRP Policy) which are 
currently being drafted for 2018/19 for submission to Governance and Audit on 16 
January 2018. There may also be a requirement to add information to the Council’s 
Capital strategy.

The EU has now set a deadline of 3 January 2018 for the introduction of regulations under 
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MIFID II).  These regulations will govern the 
relationship that financial institutions conducting lending and borrowing transactions will 
have with local authorities from that date.  This will have little effect on this authority apart 
from having to fill in forms sent by each institution dealing with this authority and for each 
type of investment instrument we use apart from cash deposits with banks and building 
societies.   

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 As the report is an update report there are no alternative options presented.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2011.

3.2 To enable the Council to not charge Minimum Revenue Provision on equity investments 
made in Welland Homes or South Holland Local Housing Company.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The report provides Members with a summary of the economy, the effect it has had on 
financial markets and the treasury activity during 2017/18. The report requires scrutiny 
prior to the minutes being submitting to Council for approval.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 This Council is required to produce a mid-term treasury report to comply with the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2011. The report has no implications which 
would affect the constitution and does not therefore warrant a further change in the 
constitution.

Page 137



5.1.2 Plans and strategies for control of the Council’s borrowing, investments, capital 
expenditure and minimum revenue provision form part of the Council’s policy framework 
and are therefore a non-executive (Council) function under the Council’s Constitution.

5.2 Financial

5.2.1 This mid-term report provides a review of the treasury activity for the first six month of the 
2017/18 financial year.

5.2.2 The Council held £41.537m of investments as at 30 September 2017 (£35.588m as at 31 
March 2017) and the investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year is 0.56% 
against a benchmark of 0.18% (average 3 month LIBID).

5.2.3 The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2017/18 is £149,900 and performance for 
the year to date is £111,745 which includes £19,690 in respect of the loan to Welland 
Homes. Expectation is that the outturn for investment interest will be approximately 
£220,000.

5.2.4 During 2016/17 the Council had an interim investment policy in place which limited the 
maximum duration for investments to one month.  This limit was removed when the 
2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy was 
approved by Council in February 2017.  It is estimated that this change has resulted in 
additional investment income of approximately £50,000.

5.3   Risk Management

5.3.1   The Council’s priority is the security of its investments.

5.4   Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.4.1   The report is being submitted for pre decision scrutiny prior to the minutes of this meeting 
being submitted to Council.

5.4.2   Link Asset Services have been consulted in relation to the compilation of this report.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 None.
 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1   CPBS – Compass Point Business Services

7.2   CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy

7.3 MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision

7.4 CFR – Capital Financing Requirement

7.5 DCLG – Department for Communities and Local Government

7.6 MiFID II - Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

Page 138



Background papers:-

a) SHDC Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2017/18.

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post Sean Howsam – Finance Manager Treasury (CPBS)
Telephone Number: 01507 613248
Email: sean.howsam@cpbs.com

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A – Economic Update (from Link Asset Services)

Appendix B - Treasury Management Strategy Statement & Annual Investment Strategy Update 
2017/18.

Page 139

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Economic Update (from Link Asset Services)

GLOBAL OUTLOOK.  World growth looks to be on an encouraging trend of stronger performance, 
rising earnings and falling levels of unemployment.  In October, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
upgraded its forecast for world growth from 3.2% to 3.6% for 2017 and 3.7% for 2018.  

In addition, inflation prospects are generally muted and it is particularly notable that wage inflation 
has been subdued despite unemployment falling to historically very low levels in the UK and US. This 
has led to many comments by economists that there appears to have been a fundamental shift 
downwards in the Phillips curve (this plots the correlation between levels of unemployment and inflation 
e.g. if the former is low the latter tends to be high).  In turn, this raises the question of what has caused 
this. The likely answers probably lay in a combination of a shift towards flexible working, self-
employment, falling union membership and a consequent reduction in union power and influence in the 
economy, and increasing globalisation and specialisation of individual countries, which has meant that 
labour in one country is in competition with labour in other countries which may be offering lower wage 
rates, increased productivity or a combination of the two. In addition, technology is probably also 
exerting downward pressure on wage rates and this is likely to grow with an accelerating movement 
towards automation, robots and artificial intelligence, leading to many repetitive tasks being taken over 
by machines or computers. Indeed, this is now being labelled as being the start of the fourth industrial 
revolution.

KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures
Looking back on nearly ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity suddenly dried up in 
financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ monetary policy measures to counter the sharp 
world recession were successful. The key monetary policy measures they used were a combination of 
lowering central interest rates and flooding financial markets with liquidity, particularly through 
unconventional means such as Quantitative Easing (QE), where central banks bought large amounts of 
central government debt and smaller sums of other debt.

The key issue now is that that period of stimulating economic recovery and warding off the threat of 
deflation is coming towards its close and a new period has already started in the US, and more recently 
in the UK, on reversing those measures i.e. by raising central rates and (for the US) reducing central 
banks’ holdings of government and other debt. These measures are now required in order to stop the 
trend of an on-going reduction in spare capacity in the economy, and of unemployment falling to such 
low levels that the re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a major risk. It is, therefore, crucial that central 
banks get their timing right and do not cause shocks to market expectations that could destabilise 
financial markets. In particular, a key risk is that because QE-driven purchases of bonds drove up the 
price of government debt, and therefore caused a sharp drop in income yields, this then also 
encouraged investors into a search for yield and into investing in riskier assets such as equities. This 
resulted in bond markets and equity market prices both rising to historically high valuation levels 
simultaneously. This, therefore, makes both asset categories vulnerable to a sharp correction. It is 
important, therefore, that central banks only gradually unwind their holdings of bonds in order to prevent 
destabilising the financial markets. It is also likely that the timeframe for central banks unwinding their 
holdings of QE debt purchases will be over several years. They need to balance their timing to neither 
squash economic recovery by taking too rapid and too strong action, or, alternatively, let inflation run 
away by taking action that was too slow and/or too weak. The potential for central banks to get this 
timing and strength of action wrong are now key risks.  

There is also a potential key question over whether economic growth has become too dependent on 
strong central bank stimulus and whether it will maintain its momentum against a backdrop of rising 
interest rates and the reversal of QE. In the UK, a key vulnerability is the low level of productivity 
growth, which may be the main driver for increases in wages; and decreasing consumer disposable 
income, which is important in the context of consumer expenditure primarily underpinning UK Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP) growth.  

Page 141



A further question that has come to the fore is whether an inflation target for central banks of 2%, is 
now realistic given the shift down in inflation pressures from internally generated inflation, (i.e. wage 
inflation feeding through into the national economy), given the above mentioned shift down in the Phillips 
curve. 

 Some economists favour a shift to a lower inflation target of 1% to emphasise the need to 
keep the lid on inflation.  Alternatively, it is possible that a central bank could simply ‘look 
through’ tepid wage inflation, (i.e. ignore the overall 2% inflation target), in order to take action in 
raising rates sooner than might otherwise be expected.  

 However, other economists would argue for a shift UP in the inflation target to 3% in order to 
ensure that central banks place the emphasis on maintaining economic growth through adopting 
a slower pace of withdrawal of stimulus. 

 In addition, there is a strong argument that central banks should target financial market 
stability. As mentioned previously, bond markets and equity markets could be vulnerable to a 
sharp correction. There has been much commentary, that since 2008, QE has caused massive 
distortions, imbalances and bubbles in asset prices, both financial and non-financial. 
Consequently, there are widespread concerns at the potential for such bubbles to be burst by 
exuberant central bank action. On the other hand, too slow or weak action would allow these 
imbalances and distortions to continue or to even inflate them further.

 Consumer debt levels are also at historically high levels due to the prolonged period of low cost 
of borrowing since the financial crash. In turn, this cheap borrowing has meant that other non-
financial asset prices, particularly house prices, have been driven up to very high levels, 
especially compared to income levels. Any sharp downturn in the availability of credit, or 
increase in the cost of credit, could potentially destabilise the housing market and generate a 
sharp downturn in house prices.  This could then have a destabilising effect on consumer 
confidence, consumer expenditure and GDP growth. However, no central bank would accept 
that it ought to have responsibility for specifically targeting house prices. 

UK.  After the UK surprised on the upside with strong economic growth in 2016, growth in 2017 has 
been disappointingly weak; quarter 1 came in at only +0.3% (+1.8% y/y),  quarter 2 was +0.3% 
(+1.5% y/y) and quarter 3 was +0.4% (+1.5% y/y).  The main reason for this has been the sharp 
increase in inflation, caused by the devaluation of sterling after the EU referendum, feeding increases in 
the cost of imports into the economy.  This has caused, in turn, a reduction in consumer disposable 
income and spending power and so the services sector of the economy, accounting for around 80% of 
GDP, has seen weak growth as consumers cut back on their expenditure. However, more recently there 
have been encouraging statistics from the manufacturing sector which is seeing strong growth, 
particularly as a result of increased demand for exports. It has helped that growth in the EU, our main 
trading partner, has improved significantly over the last year while robust world growth has also been 
supportive.  However, this sector only accounts for around 10% of GDP so expansion in this sector will 
have a much more muted effect on the overall GDP growth figure for the UK economy as a whole.

While the Bank of England is expected to give forward guidance to prepare financial markets for gradual 
changes in policy, the Monetary Policy Committee, (MPC), meeting of 14 September 2017 managed 
to shock financial markets and forecasters by suddenly switching to a much more aggressive tone in 
terms of its words around warning that Bank Rate will need to rise soon. The Bank of England Inflation 
Reports during 2017 have clearly flagged up that it expected Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation to 
peak at just under 3% in 2017, before falling back to near to its target rate of 2% in two years’ time. The 
Bank revised its forecast for the peak to just over 3% at the 14 September meeting. (Inflation actually 
came in at 3.0% in both September and October so that might prove now to be the peak.)  This marginal 
revision in the Bank’s forecast can hardly justify why the MPC became so aggressive with its wording; 
rather, the focus was on an emerging view that with unemployment having already fallen to only 4.3%, 
the lowest level since 1975, and improvements in productivity being so weak, that the amount of spare 
capacity in the economy was significantly diminishing towards a point at which they now needed to 
take action.  In addition, the MPC took a more tolerant view of low wage inflation as this now looks like a 
common factor in nearly all western economies as a result of automation and globalisation. However, 

Page 142



the Bank was also concerned that the withdrawal of the UK from the EU would effectively lead to a 
decrease in such globalisation pressures in the UK, and so this would cause additional inflationary 
pressure over the next few years.

At its 2 November meeting, the MPC duly delivered a 0.25% increase in Bank Rate. It also gave forward 
guidance that they expected to increase Bank Rate only twice more in the next three years to reach 
1.0% by 2020.  This is, therefore, not quite the ‘one and done’ scenario but is, nevertheless, a very 
relaxed rate of increase prediction in Bank Rate in line with previous statements that Bank Rate would 
only go up very gradually and to a limited extent.

However, some forecasters are flagging up that they expect growth to accelerate significantly towards 
the end of 2017 and then into 2018. This view is based primarily on the coming fall in inflation, (as the 
effect of the effective devaluation of sterling after the EU referendum drops out of the CPI statistics), 
which will bring to an end the negative impact on consumer spending power.  In addition, a strong 
export performance will compensate for weak services sector growth.  If this scenario was indeed to 
materialise, then the MPC would be likely to accelerate its pace of increases in Bank Rate during 2018 
and onwards. 

It is also worth noting the contradiction within the Bank of England between action in 2016 and in 
2017 by two of its committees. After the shock result of the EU referendum, the Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) voted in August 2016 for emergency action to cut Bank Rate from 0.50% to 0.25%, 
restarting £70bn of QE purchases, and also providing UK banks with £100bn of cheap financing. The 
aim of this was to lower borrowing costs, stimulate demand for borrowing and thereby increase 
expenditure and demand in the economy. The MPC felt this was necessary in order to ward off their 
expectation that there would be a sharp slowdown in economic growth.  Instead, the economy grew 
robustly, although the Governor of the Bank of England strongly maintained that this was because the 
MPC took that action. However, other commentators regard this emergency action by the MPC as being 
proven by events to be a mistake.  Then in 2017, we had the Financial Policy Committee (FPC) of the 
Bank of England taking action in June and September over its concerns that cheap borrowing rates, and 
easy availability of consumer credit, had resulted in too rapid a rate of growth in consumer borrowing 
and in the size of total borrowing, especially of unsecured borrowing.  It, therefore, took punitive action to 
clamp down on the ability of the main banks to extend such credit!  Indeed, a PWC report in October 
2017 warned that credit card, car and personal loans and student debt will hit the equivalent of an 
average of £12,500 per household by 2020.  However, averages belie wide variations in levels of debt 
with much higher exposure being biased towards younger people, especially the 25 -34 year old band, 
reflecting their lower levels of real income and asset ownership.

One key area of risk is that consumers may have become used to cheap rates since 2008 for borrowing, 
especially for mortgages.  It is a major concern that some consumers may have over extended their 
borrowing and have become complacent about interest rates going up after Bank Rate had been 
unchanged at 0.50% since March 2009 until falling further to 0.25% in August 2016. This is why forward 
guidance from the Bank of England continues to emphasise slow and gradual increases in Bank Rate in 
the coming years.  However, consumer borrowing is a particularly vulnerable area in terms of the 
Monetary Policy Committee getting the pace and strength of Bank Rate increases right - without causing 
a sudden shock to consumer demand, confidence and thereby to the pace of economic growth.

Moreover, while there is so much uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations, consumer confidence, and 
business confidence to spend on investing, it is far too early to be confident about how the next two to 
three years will actually pan out.

EZ.  Economic growth in the Eurozone (EZ), (the UK’s biggest trading partner), had been lack lustre for 
several years after the financial crisis despite the European Central Bank (ECB) eventually cutting its 
main rate to -0.4% and embarking on a massive programme of QE.  However, growth picked up in 2016 
and has now gathered substantial strength and momentum thanks to this stimulus.  GDP growth was 
0.6% in quarter 1 (2.0% y/y), 0.7% in quarter 2 (2.3% y/y) and +0.6% in quarter 3 (2.5% y/y).  However, 

Page 143



despite providing massive monetary stimulus, the ECB is still struggling to get inflation up to its 2% 
target and in October inflation was 1.4%. It is therefore unlikely to start on an upswing in rates until 
possibly 2019. It has, however, announced that it will slow down its monthly QE purchases of debt from 
€60bn to €30bn from January 2018 and continue to at least September 2018.  

USA. Growth in the American economy was notably erratic and volatile in 2015 and 2016.  2017 is 
following that path again with quarter 1 coming in at only 1.2% but quarter 2 rebounding to 3.1% and 
quarter 3 coming in at 3.0%.  Unemployment in the US has also fallen to the lowest level for many 
years, reaching 4.1%, while wage inflation pressures, and inflationary pressures in general, have been 
building. The Fed has started on a gradual upswing in rates with four increases in all and three 
increases since December 2016; and there could be one more rate rise in 2017, which would then lift 
the central rate to 1.25 – 1.50%. There could then be another four increases in 2018. At its September 
meeting, the Fed said it would start in October to gradually unwind its $4.5 trillion balance sheet holdings 
of bonds and mortgage backed securities by reducing its reinvestment of maturing holdings.

CHINA. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds of 
central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still needs to be made to 
eliminate excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to address the level of non-
performing loans in the banking and credit systems.

JAPAN. has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant growth and to get inflation up to its target 
of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress on fundamental reform 
of the economy.

INTEREST RATE FORECASTS

The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following forecast:

 Dec-
17

Mar-
18

Jun-
18

Sep-
18

Dec-
18

Mar-
19

Jun-
19

Sep-
19

Dec-
19

Mar-
20

Bank Rate 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00%

5yr PWLB 
rate 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.80% 1.80% 1.90% 1.90% 2.00% 2.10%

10yr PWLB 
rate 2.10% 2.20% 2.30% 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.70% 2.70%

25yr PWLB 
rate 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40%

50yr PWLB 
rate 2.50% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20%

Link Asset Services undertook its last review of interest rate forecasts on 7th November 2017 following 
the November MPC meeting when the base rate was increased to 0.50%. 

The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is probably to the downside, particularly with 
the current level of uncertainty over the final terms of Brexit.

The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rates 
are probably to the upside and are dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, how quickly 
inflation pressures rise and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move forward positively.

Page 144



Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include: 

• Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly over the next three years to raise Bank 
Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than currently 
anticipated.

• Geopolitical risks, especially North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East, which could 
lead to increasing safe haven flows.

• A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, due to its high level
of Government debt, low rate of economic growth and vulnerable banking system.

• Weak capitalisation of some European banks.
• The result of the October 2017 Austrian general election is likely to result in a strongly anti-

immigrant coalition government. In addition, the new Czech prime minister is expected to be 
Andrej Babis who is strongly against EU migrant quotas and refugee policies. Both 
developments could provide major impetus to other, particularly former Communist bloc 
countries, to coalesce to create a major block to progress on EU integration and centralisation of 
EU policy. This, in turn, could spill over into impacting the Euro, EU financial policy and financial 
markets.

• Rising protectionism under President Trump.
• A sharp Chinese downturn and its impact on emerging market countries.

The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, especially for longer 
term PWLB rates include: -

• The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, 
therefore, allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, which then 
necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.

• UK inflation returning to sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation 
premium inherent to gilt yields.

• The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through misjudging the pace and strength 
of increases in its Fed. Funds Rate and in the pace and strength of reversal of QE, which then 
leads to a fundamental reassessment by investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as 
opposed to equities. This could lead to a major flight from bonds to equities and a sharp increase 
in bond yields in the US, which could then spill over into impacting bond yields around the world.

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Update 
2017/18

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2017/18 was approved by 
Council on 22nd February 2017.

There is additional wording being recommended to the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Policy contained in the Treasury Management Strategy 2017/18 due to an omission. It is 
recommended that the following paragraph be added to section 2.3 of the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement 2017/18: 

“Any equity investment made in Welland Homes and South Holland Local Housing 
Company which are classed as capital expenditure will increase the Council’s Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).  The Council will earmark the proceeds from any sale 
of equity interest to reduce the CFR and therefore will not apply MRP on such equity 
investments.”

The details in this report update the position in light of the updated economic position and 
budgetary changes already approved.

The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators)

This part of the report is structured to update:
 The Council’s capital expenditure plans;
 How these plans are being financed;
 The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 
   indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and
 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure.
This table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes since the 
capital programme was agreed at the Budget.
 
Capital Expenditure 2017-18

Original
Programme

£’000

Position
As At

30-09-17
£’000

2017-18
Latest 

Approved
£’000

General Fund 5,345 1,199 4,310
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 8,449 1,424 10,007
Total 13,794 2,623 14,317

Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme.  
The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans 
(above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the capital 
programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital expenditure.  

Page 147



APPENDIX B

The borrowing need shown in the above table is the Council’s purchase of an equity stake in 
Welland Homes and the loans made to Welland Homes. This capital expenditure has not 
been financed and therefore creates a borrowing requirement. Rather than take out external 
borrowing, the Council is utilising its cash balances and internally borrowing to finance the 
capital expenditure.

Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), External 
Debt and the Operational Boundary.

The following table shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing 
for a capital purpose.

It also shows the expected debt position over the period. This is termed the Operational 
Boundary.

Capital Expenditure 2017-18
Original

Programme
£’000

Position
As At

30-09-17
£’000

2017-18
Latest 

Approved
£’000

General Fund 5,345 1,199 4,310
HRA 8,449 1,424 10,007
Total spend 13,794 2,623 14,317
Financed by:
Capital receipts 1,642 121 2,203
Capital grants and Contributions 478 136 862
Major Repairs Reserve 3,708 1,420 4,869
Direct Revenue Funding 7,725 12 5,377
Total financing 13,553 1,689 13,311
Borrowing need 241 934 1,006

2017-18
Original 
Estimate

For Year End
£’000

2017-18
Revised 
Estimate

For Year End
£’000

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement
CFR – non housing           1,406          2,600
CFR – housing         69,583        69,572
Total CFR         70,989        72,172

Net movement in CFR              241          1,006

Prudential Indicator – External Debt / the Operational Boundary
Borrowing  67,456 67,456
Other long term liabilities 0 0
Total debt  31 March 67,456 67,456

Page 148



APPENDIX B

Limits to Borrowing Activity

The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over the 
medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  
Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2017/18 and next two financial 
years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years.  The Council 
has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need which will be adhered to if this 
proves prudent.

The Executive Director Commercialisation (Section 151 Officer) reports that no difficulties 
are envisaged for the current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.  

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing.  This is the Authorised 
Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set 
and revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be 
afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected 
maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the 
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003.

The limit of £1m for long term liabilities shown above provides headroom for the Council to 
take out finance leases for capital assets rather than outright purchase. Prior to taking out a 
finance lease, a full option appraisal would be carried out to ensure it is the most cost 
effective way of financing the capital expenditure.

2017-18
Original 
Estimate

For Year End
£’000

Position
As
At

30/09/17
£’000

2017-18
Revised
Estimate

For Year End
£’000

Gross borrowing 67,456 67,456 67,456
Less investments (35,588) (40,994) (35,000)
Net borrowing 31,868 26,462 32,456
CFR (year-end position) 70,989 72,172 72,172

Authorised limit for external debt 2017-18
Original 
Estimate

For Year End
£’000

Position
As
At

30/09/17
£’000

2017-18
Revised
Estimate

For Year End
£’000

Borrowing 89,456 89,456 89,456

Other long term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000

Total 90,456 90,456 90,456

Page 149



APPENDIX B

Investment Portfolio 2017/18

In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital and 
liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the Council’s 
risk policy.  As set out in Appendix A, it is a very difficult investment market in terms of 
earning the level of interest rates commonly seen in previous decades as rates are 
low with the bank rate at 0.50% (as at 2/11/2017).  The continuing potential for a re-
emergence of a Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, and its impact on banks, prompts a 
low risk and short term strategy.  Given this risk environment and the fact that 
increases in Bank Rate are likely to be gradual and unlikely to return to the levels 
seen in previous decades, investment returns are likely to remain low.

The Council held £41.537m of investments as at 30 September 2017 (£35.588m as at 31 
March 2017) and the investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year is 0.56% 
against a benchmark of 0.18% (average 3 month LIBID).

Deposits held as at 30th September 2017 were as follows:

The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2017/18 is £149,900 and performance for the 
year to date is £111,745. Expectation is that the outturn for investment returns will be 
approximately £220,000.

The Council monitors risk of its investment portfolio against the Link Asset Services 
counterparty risk matrix.  This matrix gives recommended maximum investment durations for 
each financial institution based on the ratings allocated by the major credit rating agency’s 
and also takes into account credit default swap prices.

Institution As at
31-03-17

£’000

As at
30-09-17

£’000
Local Capital Finance Company Ltd (Equity)      50      50
Welland Homes (Equity)    877    877
Welland Homes Loan    409         1,342
Lloyds Bank PLC (Current Account)    97    109
Svenska Handelsbanken Bank (Instant Access) 1,300 4,959
CCLA Money Market Fund (Instant Access) 3,606         4,200
Lloyds Bank PLC (S106 Money)    249    0
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 2,500 0
North Somerset Council 5,000 0
Mid Suffolk District Council 2,000 0
East Ayrshire Council 2,500 0
Dover District Council 4,000 0
Lloyds Bank 3,000 0
Qatar National Bank 5,000 5,000
Goldman Sachs International Bank 5,000 5,000
Royal Bank of Scotland 0 5,000
First Abu Dhabi Bank 0 5,000
Nationwide BS 0 5,000
Central Bedfordshire Council 0 5,000
TOTAL        35,588       41,537

Page 150



APPENDIX B

Investment Counterparty Criteria

The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is meeting the 
requirement of the treasury management function.  

Borrowing

The Council’s projected capital financing requirement (CFR) for the end of 2017/18 is 
£72.172m.  The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes.  
If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external 
borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing).  The balance 
of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by market conditions.  The Council has 
borrowings of £67.456m in respect of the Housing Revenue Account self-financing 
settlement and it is anticipated that further borrowing will not be undertaken during this 
financial year.

The graph below shows the movement in PWLB rates for the first six months of the year to 
30th September 2017:

Page 151



APPENDIX B

Debt Rescheduling

The majority of the Councils debt was taken out in March 2012 as part of the HRA Financing 
Reforms. Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic 
climate given the consequent structure of interest rates, and following the increase in the 
margin added to gilt yields which has impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since October 
2010.  No debt rescheduling has therefore been undertaken to date in the current financial 
year.

Page 152



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) – Mark Stinson

To: Governance and Audit Committee - Thursday, 14 December 2017 

(Author: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer)

Subject Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Governance and Audit Committee

Recommendation:

That the Committee gives consideration to the content of this report and identifies any issues for 
discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee regularly considers a variety of reports from Internal 
Audit, External Audit and the Section 151 Officer.

1.2 Many of these reports are considered at regular intervals, the majority being annually, half-
yearly or quarterly.

1.3 In addition to these reports, the Committee also considers issues on an ad-hoc basis with 
some reports arising from consideration of items at previous meetings.

1.4 Attached at Appendix A to this report is the Work Programme for the Governance and Audit 
Committee.  It lays out all meetings for the 2017/18 municipal year.  Alongside each of 
these meeting dates are issues considered by the Committee on a regular basis together 
with the author of the report, its purpose and whether it is mandatory, and the frequency 
with which it is considered. 

1.5 It has been agreed that this Work Programme be a regular item for consideration on the 
Committee’s agenda, thus creating a formal document laying out the work of the 
Committee in a clear, structured and organised way.

1.6 The attached document contains items considered on a regular basis, and also any ad hoc 
issues as and when they arise, for example, issues raised at a meeting to be covered at a 
future meeting, and any one-off issues. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme. 

2.2 To do nothing.

Page 153

Agenda Item 11.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow Committee members to feed into the Work Programme on a regular basis, to 
ensure that it stays relevant and up to date.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Work Programme is a formal document laying out the work of the Committee in a 
clear, structured and organised way, thus providing members with up to date and relevant 
information.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 Constitutional and Legal implications have been considered and in the opinion of the 
author, there are none arising out of this report.   However, the Work Programme should 
assist in providing a clear programme of work for the Governance and Audit Committee in 
line with the requirements laid out in the Council’s Constitution.

5.2 Risk Management 

5.2.1 Risk Management implications have been considered and in the opinion of the author, 
there are none.  However, one of the roles of the Governance and Audit Committee is to 
monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate 
governance in the Council, and the Work Programme should assist in keeping track of risk 
issues.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No wards or communities will be affected by this post.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer
Telephone Number 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Work Programme for the Governance and Audit Committee

Page 154



APPENDIX A
GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT – CALENDAR OF WORK PROGRAMME ITEMS 2017/18

Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

14 December 2017 SHDC Annual Audit Letter 2016/17 External Audit Mandatory/Consultation requirement
To approve audit fees

Annually

Progress Report and Technical Update External Audit To update the Committee on progress 
with the external audit

Twice a year

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report 2017-18

Internal Audit 
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan.
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly

Follow up report on Internal Audit 
recommendations

Internal Audit Twice a year

Fraud related policies Internal Audit To bring fraud related policies 
mentioned within paragraph 3.5 of the 
Annual Report and Opinion 16/17

Mid Term Treasury Report 17/18 Section 151 Officer To comply with Treasury 
Management Strategy, reporting 
requirements

Half Yearly

Risk Management Update Report Charlotte Paine Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

16 January 2018 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy 18/19

Section 151 Officer Mandatory requirement
To review Treasury Management 
Strategy and approve Prudential 
Indicators

Annual

15 March 2018 Audit Plan External Audit External Audit Plan – Mandatory 
Approval

Annual

Grant Claims 2016/17 External Audit External Audit Certification of Grant 
Claims – Mandatory Approval

Annual

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report 2017-18

Internal Audit 
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan.
Not mandatory, but part of 

Quarterly/To 
each meeting

P
age 155



Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

Governance role.
Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plan 
2018/19

Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

Annual Internal Audit Workplan -
Mandatory approval

Annual

Audit Mandatory Inquiries Section 151 Officer To confirm the response of the 
external audit mandatory inquiries. 
External auditors are required to 
obtain an understanding on how those 
charged with governance exercise 
oversight of management’s processes 
in relation to fraud, laws and 
regulations and going concerns.
Good Practice

Annual

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Charlotte Paine Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

Item to be added twice yearly to Work Programme in December and June (as part of the year end reporting) – Update on the progress of 
agreed audit recommendations and whether management have implemented these as expected.  Report from Internal Audit. 

P
age 156


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	4. Quarterly Risk Report Q2 2017/18
	Appendix A for Strategic Risk Report

	5. SHDC Annual Audit Letter 2016/17
	6. External Audit Progress Report and Technical Update
	Technical update�Draft
	Contents
	External audit progress report
	External audit progress report
	KPMG Resources
	Ready for General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)?
	Faster accounts close for Local Government
	The route to digital business leadership 
	Technical developments
	Local government finance settlement 2017-18�
	Minimum Revenue Provision Consultation�
	Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)�
	Local authority accounts: A guide to your rights�
	Publication of 2017/18 work programme and scale of fees�
	Local Audit (public access to Documents) Act 2017�
	CIPFA consultations
	NAO Report – Progress in setting up combined authorities
	PSAA's Value for Money tool
	PSAA report on the results of auditors’ work at Local Government bodies 2016-17
	NAO homelessness report
	Smith Institute report on the increase of local housing companies
	Appendix
	2017/18 audit deliverables
	2017/18 audit deliverables (cont.)
	Slide Number 25

	7. Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity
	Progress report on IA activity

	8. Follow Up Report on Internal Audit Recommendations
	Follow Up on  IA recs  year end

	9. Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Policy and Whistleblowing Policy
	App 1
	App 2

	10. Mid Term Treasury Report 2017/18
	Appendix A Economic Update
	Appendix B Treasury Management Strategy Statement  Annual Investment Strategy Update 2017-18

	11. Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme
	Appendix  A


